

LITERATURE SURVEY TO ASSESS THE STATE-OF-THE-ART OF SELECTIVE CATALYTIC REDUCTION OF VEHICLE NOx EMISSIONS

CRC Project No. AVFL-7

Ricardo Inc.

7850 Grant Street Burr Ridge, Illinois, 60527 TEL: (630) 789-0003 FAX: (630) 789-0127

Prepared for: Coordinating Research Council, Inc. 3650 Mansell Road, Suite 140 Alpharetta, Georgia, 30022

 Project:
 F0529

 Archive:
 C02 -2814

 Date:
 21 JUN 2002

Author: Brad Adelman

Collaborators: Renaud Rohe Roland Christopher

Technical Approval: Brad Jadelm

Dr. Brad Adelman, Ph. D. Technical Specialist / Performance And Emissions



Final Report for Project AVFL-7

LITERATURE SURVEY TO ASSESS THE STATE-OF-THE-ART OF SELECTIVE CATALYTIC REDUCTION OF VEHICLE NOX EMISSIONS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Ricardo has been commissioned by Coordinating Research Council to perform a comprehensive search of several scientific databases in order to assess the state-of-the-art of selective catalytic reduction of NOx using hydrocarbons as the reductant source. The objective is to identify potential catalyst formulations which show promise as emission control technologies to be used in LDD applications. To this end, Ricardo Powerlink[™], Compendex, INSPEC, NTIS, CAB Abstracts and CHEMWEB – Catalysis Forum have been searched using the following key words: Selective Catalytic Reduction, SCR, NOx Reduction, Diesel Exhaust, Lean, DeNOx, Non urea/ammonia. From this search, 289 papers have been identified from which 122 have been selected for detailed reading. A catalyst formulation is defined as a potential ECT if the peak NOx conversion occurs below 300°C and the conversion levels are greater than 70%. The subsequent reading lead to the following observations.

Most of the literature available for SCR-HC omits key exhaust gas components, namely water vapor and SO₂. The most frequently sited catalyst, Cu/ZSM-5, is irreversibly deactivated upon extended exposure to water vapor and SO₂. Most of the ion-exchanged zeolite supported catalysts are not potential ECTs as they either suffer from one or more of the following: water/SO₂ inhibition, inferior conversion levels, elevated conversion temperature window. An Fe/ZSM-5 catalyst synthesized via a solid-gas exchange between FeCl₃ and H/ZSM-5 yields a very active catalyst which is water/SO₂ tolerant. The limitation of this formulation is the difficult procedure required for synthesis.

Supported platinum catalysts on many materials (e.g., AI_2O_3 , SiO_2 , zeolites, mixed metal oxides) demonstrate NOx conversion levels within the desired temperature range. NOx conversion levels vary from 30-95% between 200°C to 300°C. Conversion depends on metal loading, reductant employed, support material and presence of other metals. Zeolites and alumina are generally selective supports when the platinum loading is 1wt%. Light paraffins are nonselective reductants while light olefins are selective. Light hydrocarbons yield the highest N₂O:N₂ ratio of all reductants. Heavier hydrocarbons as well as oxygenates favor N₂ formation though most reductants still form some quantity of N₂O. Supported platinum catalysts are tolerant to water vapor and SO₂ in the exhaust gases though the oxidation of SO₂ to SO₃ occurs simultaneously with NOx reduction. A catalyst technology for the concomitant removal of N₂O is required in order for supported platinum catalysts to achieve greater potential.

Alumina supported silver catalysts are active for NOx reduction over a large temperature window. Selective reductants include higher paraffins and oxygenated organics (excluding methanol). These catalysts are resistant to water inhibition and SO₂ though the effects of SO₂ are less documented. Catalyst preparation methods include incipient wetness and hydrolysis of aluminum alkoxide; i.e., silver salt gels with the hydrolysis method allowing improved dispersion at higher silver loadings. A method for producing the oxygenates on-board is required to avoid the need for an additional tank.



Recently, non-thermal plasmas have received much attention. This technology converts NO to NO₂ and partially oxidizes olefins to aldehydes. When a catalyst such as Ba/Y zeolite is downstream of a dielectric barrier discharge devise, significant NOx removal is observed at 200°C. This technology is tolerant to water vapor and SO₂; moreover, the oxidation of SO₂ to SO₃ does not occur. There are limitations to NTP. The catalysts tend to create significant quantities of surface deposits at low temperatures and it is possible that after extended low temperature operation the catalysts could become deactivated. The DBD devise requires energy input (20-60 J/L) which, in turn, will lower fuel economy. The durability of the DBD devises remains to be proven. Toxic byproducts such as CH_2O and HCN are produced within the NTP plumes. This requires the use of an oxidation catalyst which in turn has the potential to create N₂O.

Despite the large body of data for SCR-HC catalysts, very few formulations possess adequate NOx conversion levels at temperatures observed with LDD applications. Moreover, most of the formulations tested have been done so in the absence of water vapor and SO₂. When these components of real diesel exhausts are added to the feed gases, many formulations which had been proven active are irreversibly deactivated. Cu/ZSM-5 is a classic example of this. Supported platinum catalysts are active but have a propensity to form N₂O. Fe/ZSM-5 is very active but its synthesis method is complex. Alumina supported silver catalysts hold promise. These formulation can be augmented by the use of non-thermal plasma. Plasmas are also quite active with Ba/Y zeolite and Na/Y zeolite catalysts.

Suggested areas of future research:

- All future research endeavors to include realistic diesel exhaust conditions: water vapor and SO₂
- Pt-based formulations which do not form N₂O
- Novel catalyst formulations which decompose/reduce N₂O below 300°C
- Facile synthesis routes to form Fe/ZSM-5 with equivalent performance and durability as those formed by the solid-gas or anaerobic aqueous exchange of FeC₂O₄
- On-board routes to form oxygenated reductants for silver-based catalysts
- Continued investigation into non-thermal plasma technologies
- Engine thermal management techniques to minimize exhaust conditions which are below 180°C – maintain catalyst within peak operating temperature window
- Techniques for storing NOx emissions during cool exhaust conditions followed by re-injection of the stored NOx when the ECT has achieved light-off conditions.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
	TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
1.	INTRODUCTION	8
	1.1 Alternate Technologies To TWC1.2 Requirements For Light-Duty Diesel (LDD) Applications	8 9
2.	LITERATURE IDENTIFICATION	10
3.	ROLE OF THE SUPPORT MATERIAL	11
	 3.1 Zeolite-Based Catalysts 3.2 Alumina-Based Catalysts 3.3 Mixed-Metal Oxide (MMO) Based Catalysts 3.4 Reaction Mechanisms 3.4.1 Organic Surface Intermediates Pathway 3.4.2 NOx Decomposition Pathway 	11 15 17 17 17 18
4.	ACTIVE METALS – SUMMARY	19
	4.1 Supported Platinum Catalysts4.2 Supported Silver Catalysts4.3 Supported Copper Catalysts	19 20 21
5.	EFFECT OF THE REDUCTANT – SUMMARY	21
	5.1 Light Olefins And Paraffins5.2 Methane5.3 Oxygenated Reductants	21 22 22
6.	POTENTIAL OF NON-THERMAL PLASMA (NTP)	23
7.	ENGINE PARAMETERS AND OTHER VARIABLES	24
8.	COMPARISON TO SELECTIVE CATALYTIC REDUCTION WITH NH ₃	24
	21 JUNE 2002 © 2002 by Ricardo, Inc	Page 4 of 53



9.	SUMMARY AND PROPOSAL FOR FUTURE WORK	25
	APPENDICES	28
	GRAPHS, FIGURES AND TABLES	38



LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1: Simulated Thermal Trace versus Engine to Mass Ratio	38
Figure 2: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for ZSM-5 Supported Catalysts	39
Figure 2A: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for ZSM-5 Supported Pt Catalysts	39
Figure 3: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Other Zeolite Supported Catalysts	s 40
Figure 4: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Catalysts	40
Figure 4A: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Pt Catalysts	41
Figure 4B: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Ag Catalysts	s 41
Figure 5: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Mixed-Metal Oxide Supported Catalysts	42
Figure 6: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Supported Platinum Catalysts	42
Figure 7: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Supported Silver Catalysts	43
Figure 8: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature with Methane as the Reductant	43
Figure 9: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature with Oxygenated Reductants	44



LIST OF TABLES

PAGE

Table 1: NOx Conversion on ZSM-5 Supported Catalysts	45
Table 2: NOx Conversion on Zeolite (non ZSM-5) Supported Catalysts	46
Table 3: NOx Conversion on Alumina Supported Catalysts	47
Table 4: NOx Conversion on Mixed-Metal Oxide Supported Catalysts	48
Table 5: NOx Conversion on Supported Platinum Catalysts	49
Table 6: NOx Conversion on Supported Silver Catalysts	50
Table 7: NOx Conversion with Methane as the Reductant	51
Table 8: NOx Conversion with Oxygenated Reductants	52
Table 9: References for the Data Points	53



1. INTRODUCTION:

As the effects of anthropogenic emission on the environment are becoming better understood, governments have acted to minimize this impact. Current legislation imposes limits on the emissions from internal combustion engines. These limits have been set for the release of carbon oxides (CO, directly, and CO₂, indirectly by fuel economy limits), hydrocarbons and nitrogen oxides (NO and NO₂ referred to as NOx). For diesel engines, the mass of particulate matter is also legislated. Sulfur emissions, though not directly legislated, are limited so that H_2S is not formed as it has a strong, pungent odor. The formation of sulfates and SO₃ is also limited as they readily adsorb onto the particulate matter and thus impart an increase in total particulate mass. Nitrous oxide is not currently a regulated emission. It is, however, a potent greenhouse gas and may become a regulated compound if vehicle emissions of N₂O are deemed to be significant. Of all these emissions, the most difficult to remove from vehicle emissions is NOx. This task becomes even more difficult for compression ignition vehicles (diesel) than spark ignition (gasoline).

For several decades, spark Ignition (SI) engines have employed three-way catalytic converters (TWC). The technology is called "three-way" since hydrocarbons and carbon monoxide are oxidized to CO_2 and H_2O while NOx is simultaneously reduced to N_2 . These catalysts have been proved to yield high conversion efficiencies at temperatures above 250°C provided that the exhaust gas is at or near the stoichiometric point (enough oxygen present to combust all reductants to CO_2 and H_2O). As lambda (a measure of stoichiometry) deviates from stoichiometry (λ = 1), the efficiency of the TWC rapidly decreases. Decreasing lambda (exhaust gas becomes net rich) permits significant hydrocarbon and CO emissions as not enough oxygen is present for combustion. Increasing lambda (exhaust gas becomes net lean) permits significant NOx emissions as the catalyst sites responsible for NOx reduction are saturated with oxygen preventing dissociative adsorption of NOx, the first step in NOx reduction on a TWC. In order to maintain exhaust gas streams at stoichiometry, engine control units monitor the exhaust gas lambda values and constantly adjust fueling and air flow to the engine. Moreover, TWCs also employ an oxygen storage component (OSC) to the catalyst formulation. The OSC is capable of buffering the exhaust gas composition. When excess O₂ is present, the OSC stores oxygen. When excess reductants are present, the OSC releases oxygen.

Unfortunately for compression ignition (CI) technologies such as diesel, it is not possible to buffer the exhaust gas so that the catalyst technology operates near the stoichiometric point. This would require an excessive amount of fuel and thus remove a primary advantage of CI engines; i.e., significantly improved fuel economy. Therefore, CI engines require an alternate technology.

1.1 Alternate Technologies To TWC

Several technologies have demonstrated promise. Lean NOx Traps (LNT) remove the NOx from the gas stream and store them as metal nitrates such as barium nitrate. Once the barium sites for NOx adsorption are saturated, these catalytic sites must be regenerated by converting the exhaust stream from net lean to net rich. During the regeneration cycle, the nitrate is reduced and NO is released. The resultant NO is further reduced to N_2 over a metal site (preferably Rh). By limiting the duration and frequency of the rich regeneration, the fuel penalty caused by creating the rich gas stream can be minimized. This tends to result in large catalyst volumes which can be several times greater than the cylinder displacement of the



engine. Another drawback to LNT is that they are sulfur intolerant. Since the NOx adsorption reaction is an acid-base reaction, materials capable of NOx adsorption also demonstrate significant sulfur uptake in the form of surface sulfate groups. These sulfate groups are significantly more stable than the adsorbed nitrates. While the sites present as nitrates can readily be regenerated (< 400°C), those present as sulfates require higher temperatures (>550°C) and longer regeneration events (minutes).

Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with ammonia (SCR-NH₃) is currently employed as a NOx removal technology for stationary power sources. SCH-NH₃ is based on the reaction of NOx from the engine reacting with injected NH₃ to produce N₂ and H₂O. The injected quantity of NH₃ must be controlled to prevent excess ammonia from being released into the environment. This is called "NH₃-slip". Contrarily, insufficient NH₃ will result in NOx release into the environment. The use of a 'clean-up' catalyst downstream of the SCR-NH₃ catalyst prevents NH_3 -slip by oxidizing any excess NH_3 though this yields NOx. Conversion efficiencies for SCR-NH₃ have been reported to be above 90%. In order to apply SCR-NH₃ to mobile sources, NH₃ must be stored on the vehicle or produced onboard. Owing to the health and safety issues of storing NH_3 , it will need to be produced onboard. Since NH_3 is not a significant engine emission. the source for producing NH₃ will need to be stored in the vehicle. There are two main compounds that can be used for NH₃ formation: urea and ammonium carbamate. Urea, present as a \sim 35% wt solution, readily hydrolyzes to form NH₃ and H₂O at temperatures above 180°C. There are a few limitations to using urea as the NH_3 source. One is that 65% of the urea solution is water and therefore, does not add to performance. This becomes wasted mass. There currently is no infrastructure present in North America for urea distribution. Moreover, since the urea tank will require frequent refilling, no mechanism is in place on the vehicle which would ensure that the tank never becomes empty. A concern among government regulator is that without this precaution it would be possible to defeat the SCR-NH₃ by not refilling the urea tank. Added to this are concerns about the various byproducts (cyanuric acid, ammelide, ammeline, etc.) formed during urea pyrolysis. Ammonium carbamate, present as a solid, has cost, distribution and handling issues which makes it an unattractive source for producing ammonia on board.

Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with hydrocarbons (SCR-HC) has the advantage that the catalyst utilizes hydrocarbon species present in the exhaust stream for NOx reduction. The reaction can be supplemented with additional hydrocarbons either via secondary injection of fuel in the cylinder or direct injection into the exhaust stream. The former has the advantage that diesel fuel will partially combust to yield lighter hydrocarbons which tend to have performance benefits over raw diesel fuel injected over the catalyst. SCR-HC, also known as active deNOx, requires minimal hardware and uses the diesel fuel as the reductant. This avoids the need for an additional reagent tank. As a result of its simplicity, SCR-HC would be the desired technology to attain future legislated NOx emission limits.

1.2 Requirement For Light-Duty Diesel (LDD) Applications

Within the publicly available information, there exists a large body of data concerning the performance of SCR-HC technologies. The breadth of catalyst formulations, test operating conditions and reductant used make it difficult to compare these data and assess the potential for SCR-HC. It is the purpose of this report to assess SCR-HC as a feasible emission control technology (ECT) for light-duty applications. The legislated emission target is US TIER 2 Bin 5 with a NOx emission limit of 0.07g NOx/mi. Catalyst activity over the FTP cycle directly affects



the engine out NOx limits. For example, a catalyst which converts 90% of NOx emissions during the FTP cycle can tolerate engine out levels of 0.70 g NOx/mi. and still achieve the Bin 5 target of 0.07g/mi. A catalyst with 50% efficiency requires engine out NOx to be no greater than 0.14 g/mi. For the purpose of this discussion a conversion efficiency target of 70% has been used. This corresponds to engine out NOx levels no greater than 0.23 g/mi. Based on literature values, these engine out targets are somewhat aggressive but achievable.

The actual temperature trace for the FTP cycle is engine dependant and varies with the relationship between engine size and vehicle mass. The larger the engine is with respect to the vehicle, the lower the inlet temperature to the catalyst will be. **Figure 1** gives a simulated temperature trace for two engine/mass scenarios: the higher engine-to-mass ratio yields the lower thermal trace. Based on the two thermal traces, effective SCR-HC catalysts for LDD application would need to have peak performance between 200-300°C. Catalysts that demonstrate significant NOx reduction capabilities only at higher temperatures are not likely to be effective, as exhaust gases for LDD applications rarely exceed 350°C. These traces demonstrate that engine parameters will play a large role in achieving the legislated emission targets.

Additionally, the amount of hydrocarbon required for effective (>70% removal) will need to be low in order to minimize the fuel penalty. For the purpose of this study, an attempt to correlate hydrocarbon used to an exact fuel penalty has not been performed. It is assumed that the lower the C/NOx ratio (normalized value of the hydrocarbon based on equivalent C1 units versus the quantity of NOx) the lower the fuel penalty. None of the data points were excluded based on an elevated C/NOx ratio.

2 LITERATURE IDENTIFICATION

The selection of the papers presented in this study was performed as follows.

Six different databases, which cover the wide range of the Selective Catalytic Reduction domains, were chosen. Their particularities are described in the Appendix. A search was conducted using the following keywords:

- Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR)
- NOx Reduction
- Diesel exhaust
- Lean
- DeNOx
- Non urea/ammonia

A pre-selection, based on the article title and abstract, has been applied to eliminate the papers which were not related to the subject. From this search, 289 papers have been selected.

The abstract papers were studied and the papers were classified on an excel database. The classification fields were

- Type of papers (General, Laboratory test, Modeling, Review...)
- Catalyst
- Reductant
- Application
- Interest for this study

122 papers were ordered for detailed reading. These papers are listed in the Appendix .



3

ROLE OF THE SUPPORT MATERIAL

The bulk of this study will be divided into three sections: the role of the support, the role of the active metal center and the role of the reductant. In each section the representative data will be presented and discussed with respect to the section topic. The first topic is the role of the support material. Several support materials have been shown to be active supports for SCR-HC. The most prominently studied supports are zeolites. Zeolites are crystalline arrays of oxygen-bridged silica tetrahedra. When some of the silica (Si⁴⁺) centers are replaced with alumina (Al³⁺) the result is a net negative charge to the framework of the zeolite. The negative charge is compensated with a cation. Upon synthesis the cation is generally sodium or ammonium. This cation can readily be exchanged with other cations, thus imparting many opportunities for new catalyst formulations. The first section will list some of the more actively studied zeolite-based formulations along with those zeolite-based catalysts which show the greatest potential for application in LDD emission control technologies.

In addition to zeolites, amorphous oxide supports have also been demonstrated to be active supports. The best of these is alumina. Amorphous alumina has high surface area which is important in dispersing active metal sites. Moreover, it has greater hydrothermal stability than zeolites. Alumina can also possess acidic or basic properties based on the preparation method. For most of the references, the alumina supports were provided from an industrial source. As a result, little characterization data are presented. Attempts will be made to identify differences in performance of similar catalyst formulations based on the synthesis method of the support material or catalyst.

Similar to alumina, several other oxide supports have been proven active supports for SCR-HC. These supports can be mixed metal oxides (MMO) such as pillared clays or oxides such as silica and zirconia. Catalyst preparation with these types of supports can include incipient wetness where the minimum amount of water is used in order to cover the support surface. This tends to form bulk oxides. As this preparation employs dilute metal solutions, it limits the metal loading achievable. Co-precipitation is another catalyst preparation method. Unlike incipient wetness, co-precipitation uses a solution containing the support material mixed and the active metal. The solution pH is gradually increased with a combustible base such as urea or ammonia. As the pH rises, the solution forms a gel. Upon calcination, the resultant powder will posses highly dispersed active metal cites.

When possible, these differences will be assessed with respect to catalytic performance.

3.1 Zeolite-Based Catalysts

The first SCR-HC catalyst of significant interest is Cu/ZSM-5. In independent studies lwamoto and Held demonstrated enhanced NOx reduction of copper ion-exchanged zeolites when an excess of oxygen is present. NOx reduction begins around 300°C and reaches a maximum between 400-450°C. The shape of the conversion graphs have been shown to be dependant on reductant type and concentration as well as on space velocity. The experimental conditions did not include H₂O or SO₂ which are ubiquitous in real diesel exhausts. When these components are included in the feed, NOx reduction is inhibited. For short duration, the inhibiting effect of H₂O is reversible while extended exposure to water vapor irreversibly deactivates Cu/ZSM-5 catalysts. This effect is accelerated at elevated temperatures. The Cu/ZSM-5 system remains a popular catalyst for academic studies and continues to elucidate new features of heterogeneous catalysis. It will, however, never meet the rigors for industrial application in LDD emission control technologies.



An almost Edisonial approach has been employed to screen potential catalyst formulations. **Figures 2 and 3** show a very small sample of the various exchange metals tested for SCR-HC activity. Since ZSM-5 has been the most actively studied support, those formulations using ZSM-5 have been presented in a separate graph (**Figure 2**) in an attempt to create a more facile comparison. Though the number of points is small, a good representative sample has been presented.

As evidenced in **Figure 2** most of the catalysts possess peak NOx conversion either at temperatures which are higher than expected for LDD applications or at conversion levels too low to meet future legislative standards. There are four samples which possess sufficient conversion at the proper temperatures. Two of the catalysts are supported platinum catalysts and the other two are supported cerium catalysts. Another set of six catalysts posses sufficient conversion but the peak temperatures are slightly higher than desired. Of these, four are supported copper catalysts. The other two are supported iron catalysts, one which is promoted by lanthanum. Since the focus of this report is to assess the potential of various catalyst formulations as emission control technologies on LDD applications, all of the other samples will not be considered except in the case when these inferior catalysts are of similar composition to those which have displayed adequate performance. It will be critical to reconcile these differences in order to fully understand the potential of the adequate technologies.

Of all the references selected for this project, the most frequent formulation studied is Cu/ZSM-5. These results can be summarized as follows. Supported copper catalysts have high NOx conversion levels usually at temperatures above 350°C when the reductant is C₃ or higher hydrocarbon. For ethene, moderate conversion occurs between 200-300°C though it is not significant enough (~40%). It is interesting to note that for lighter hydrocarbons (C₆ or lower), the presence of water vapor leads to significant catalytic inhibition while heavier hydrocarbons such as C₈ show moderate water vapor tolerance though peak NOx conversion occurs at 350°C with normal octane and 500°C with *iso*-octane. Most of the differences in Cu/ZSM-5 performance can be traced to the hydrocarbon employed. Though heavier hydrocarbons maintain catalytic activity over Cu/ZSM-5 even in the presence of water vapor, the formulation on the whole possesses flaws which prevent its use in LDD applications. Extended hydrothermal exposure leads to irreversible loss of catalytic activity. The presence of SO₂ also leads to permanent deactivation. Though it may be possible to avoid SO₂ with the use of synthetic diesel (Fischer Tropsch), water and heat present in diesel exhaust are enough to deactivate Cu/ZSM-5 eventually.

As has been readily discussed in the literature, Cu/ZSM-5 remains as a reference catalyst even though there is no potential for this formulation to have industrial success.

There are seven conversion levels reported for supported Pt catalysts in **Figure 2**. Of the seven, only two are deemed suitable with respect to conversion level and temperature of maximum conversion. All of these catalysts are represented in **Figure 2A** and are summarized as follows. Supported platinum catalysts have been shown to be ineffective when ethane is used as the reductant. At high space velocities, the conversion peak is diminished and shifted to higher temperatures. Ion-exchanged samples are less effective than bulk impregnated samples. This difference implies that larger platinum ensembles are required for effective NOx removal and not intimate interaction between Pt and the zeolite pores. Of the seven samples, only the ion exchanged ones were tested in the presence of water vapor or SO₂ but the same generalization can be applied to all Pt/ZSM-5 catalysts. There is only a mild inhibition (<5%) from the presence of water vapor. In the presence of SO₂ the conversion window is shifted slightly to higher temperatures (+25°C) and is also slightly broader (+50°C). Therefore, under



realistic conditions, Pt/ZSM-5 has a high likelihood of meeting the future emission legislation. Unfortunately, Pt/ZSM-5 possesses a serious limitation. For all of the catalysts, a significant fraction of NOx reduced resulted in the formation of N₂O. Though N₂O is not currently a regulated emission, it is a strong greenhouse gas. The use of an emission control technology which produces N₂O in significant quantities would not be welcomed and would most likely prompt government legislation. In order for Pt/ZSM-5 to achieve industrial interest, the discovery of a Pt formulation that does not form N₂O or catalyst that removes N₂O concomitantly with NOx reduction is required. Currently no such catalyst exists though Rh on ZSM-5 or Al₂O₃ show promise for N₂O decomposition, attaining light-off between 250°C and 300°C.

The remaining two catalyst formulations of interest are supported iron catalysts. The iron only parent catalyst shows 75% NOx conversion at 350°C when *iso*-butane is the reductant. It is remarkable to note that the presence of 10% water vapor does not inhibit conversion. By adding 0.9wt% lanthanum to the parent catalyst, the conversion increases to 83% and has a larger conversion window though shifted to higher temperatures. The promotional effect of adding 0.9wt% lanthanum is not inhibited by the presence of water vapor. For most of the supported iron catalysts, water vapor actually increases catalytic performance at lower temperatures. This presumably is a result in removal of coke precursors which would otherwise block catalytically active sites. Unlike the Pt/ZSM-5 catalysts, Fe/ZSM-5 yields N₂ only. Moreover, after 100 hours time-on-stream, conversion only decreases by 10%. This effect is reversible by removing water vapor from the feed and heating to 500°C though it is unlikely that this regeneration event will occur under real conditions. It is important to note that another Fe/ZSM-5 sample with similar iron composition has been reported using the same feed composition. However, with this catalyst, peak NOx conversion is shifted to 500°C. The presence of 150 ppm SO₂ did not affect NOx conversion levels.

The origin in the different performances most likely originates in the catalyst preparation method. The first two samples have been prepared by solid-gas exchange (chemical vapor reaction). The parent zeolite present as the protonic form is exposed to FeCl₃. The proton reacts with $FeCl_3$ to form cationic iron $(FeCl_2)^+$ complexes at exchange sites and HCI. The HCI is removed from the zeolite pore structure by the diluent gas. The residual chloride is removed via washing resulting in the removal of HCl and the formation of [HO-Fe-O-Fe-OH]²⁺. The Fe/Al atomic ratio achieved from this procedure reaches unity. Since the exchange ion is Fe³⁺, the calculated exchange level is 300%. The lanthanum promoted sample is made by exposing the thus formed Fe/ZSM-5 sample to a dilute La solution. Cobalt catalysts prepared by chemical sublimation have also been shown to possess lower temperatures for maximum NOx conversion than samples formed via aqueous ion-exchange. The Fe/ZSM-5 which has a maximum NOx conversion at 500°C utilizes a different preparation procedure. This sample is made by exposing a Na/ZSM-5 parent zeolite powder to a saturated ferrous oxalate solution in the absence of oxygen. The resultant catalyst possess a Fe/Al atomic ratio equal to 0.9. Since the exchange material is Fe²⁺, the calculated exchange level is 190%. Therefore, the difference in reported ion-exchange levels is a bookkeeping issue and not based on composition. A more accurate comparison of the two catalysts is the Fe/AI atomic ratios which are nearly identical. Fe/ZSM-5 catalysts prepared via incipient wetness and convention ion exchange result in lower iron loading and significantly inferior performance presumably from the formation of iron oxide particles. The Fe/ZSMZ-5 catalysts formed via FeCl₃ sublimation or FeC₂O₄ exchange show great promise though their preparation procedure is difficult.

The unique preparation procedures are deemed necessary for Fe/ZSM-5. For aqueous ion-exchange, ferrous (Fe²⁺) ions are desired. Proton sites exchange with [FeOH]⁺ complexes



up to a Fe/AI ratio equal to unity. Unless the exchange occurs in the presence of excess FeC_2O_4 and the absence of O_2 , ferrous ions readily oxidize to ferric (Fe³⁺) complexes such as FeOOH. FeOOH will not exchange with the zeolite protons but rather form non-framework iron oxide particles. These oxide particles are not active for NOx reduction. With the solid/gas reaction, FeCl₃ reacts with one zeolite proton to form HCl_{gas} and FeCl₂⁺ complexes. Upon exposure to H₂O [Fe(OH)₂]⁺ complexes are formed and HCl is washed from the zeolite. Calcination of the thus prepared sample yields [HO-Fe-O-Fe-OH]²⁺ complexes. All of the steps involved in the solid/gas preparation allow iron to be exchanged into the zeolite until a Fe/Al ratio of unity is reached. This is similar to the result during aqueous ion-exchange in the presence of FeC₂O₄. The resulting iron complex formed after both preparations is [HO-Fe-O-Fe-OH]²⁺ which is the active site for deNOx catalysis. This complex allows iron to undergo a redox cycle (Fe²⁺ \leftrightarrow Fe³⁺) but prevents further reduction to Fe⁰. When iron is reduced to the metallic state, it allows the formation of iron oxide particles and zeolite protons which in turn deactivates the catalyst. This does not occur even under reaction conditions with catalysts prepared via these two methods. There still remains, however, some degree of controversy around the Fe/ZSM-5 catalysts. Further investigation is required to determine the origin for observed differences in performance from lab to lab as well as if alternate, industrially-friendly procedures are possible.

In Figure 3, the performance of several metal ion-exchanged zeolite catalysts are presented. In this graph, the zeolite support material is not ZSM-5. Of the six supported platinum catalysts, two have conversion levels that are both significant and within the desired temperature window. The two with significant conversion but at high temperatures use methane as a reductant. When methane is the reductant, the conversion peak temperatures are shifted higher as a result of the higher activation energy for C-H bond rupture of methane compared to higher paraffins. The results with methane as the reductant will be discussed in Section 5.2. There are two catalysts which have peak NOx conversion within the desired temperature window but whose maximum is too low. These catalysts are similar in composition (each are 1wt%Pt/USY) to those with higher conversion maxima. The difference in performance arises from a lower reductant to NOx ratio (4.5 versus 0.6) as well as a mixture of propene, a selective reductant, with propane, a nonselective reductant. The lower carbon/NOx ratio coupled with the presence of propane result in these lower conversion levels. This indicates that a higher fuel consumption penalty would be required in order for a supported platinum catalyst to give the desired conversion levels. Again, one should note that all of the zeolite supported platinum catalysts mentioned in this section produce a significant quantity of N₂O. In order to utilize this family of catalysts, either a catalyst capable of concomitant N₂O removal needs to be developed or a method (via catalyst additive or use of a unique reductant) for avoiding N₂O production is required.

There are two supported sodium and three supported barium catalysts with conversion in the desired temperature window. All of these catalyst are on Y zeolite. The two supported sodium catalysts show a moderate NOx conversion level even in the presence of 2% water vapor. Unfortunately, the levels are too low for further consideration other than to note that the reductants are alcohols. For the supported barium catalysts, significant NOx conversion is achieved when an oxygenated reductant is used. When 500ppm of acetaldehyde and 200ppm NO₂ are used, 85% NOx removal is achieved even in the presence of 2% water vapor. By substituting higher aldehydes but keeping the C/NOx ratio constant, the conversion levels remain high but are decreased slightly (80% with propionaldehyde, 75% with butyraldehyde). Slightly lower conversion levels have been reported when the NO₂ is replaced by NO. This suggests that a dominant role of the plasma in non-thermal plasma (NTP) assisted catalysis is the partial oxidation of the hydrocarbon to form an aldehyde and not solely the oxidation of NO



to NO₂. If *n*-octane is used, 70% NOx removal is achieved but only if NO₂ is already in the feed. When NO is present, conversion drops to below 50%. The zeolite-supported barium catalysts have become of interest with the recent application of NTP towards emission control technologies. The role of the NTP will be discussed in **Section 6**. Moreover, the ability of oxygenated reductants to demonstrate significant NOx conversion in the presence of water vapor will be discussed in **Section 5.3**. Both NTP and the use of oxygenated reductants show great promise for achieving the required NOx conversion within the desired temperature window for LDD applications.

One of the catalysts of promise is a Na/Y supported gold catalyst (brown dot). Unfortunately, the high NOx conversion is achieved under a net reducing atmosphere and is therefore not applicable to this study. It is important to note that several supported gold catalysts have been reported in the literature though none meet the requirements for LDD applications.

3.2 Alumina-Based Catalysts

The next set of catalyst formulations that have received great interest has been aluminabased catalysts. A composite of the NOx conversion levels for several different catalyst compositions has been collected in **Figure 4**. Again a significant number of formulations possess adequate NOx conversion levels but at temperatures outside the desired range for LDD applications. Most of the alumina only catalysts have high conversion levels but above 400°C, thus making them unacceptable for LDD applications. High temperature performance is observed when light olefins and paraffins are used as the reductant.

Over the metal-free support, ethanol and methanol have also been proven as selective reductants over alumina only catalysts. Ethanol tends to yield maximum NOx conversion at slightly higher (400-450°C) temperatures than desired. Methanol yields maximum NOx conversion around 300-435°C. The temperature for maximum conversion seems to be effected by the C/NOx ratio with higher C/NOx ratios yielding lower peak temperatures. Unfortunately, none of the alumina samples presented have been tested in the presence of water vapor. It is assumed that NOx conversion will be significantly inhibited when light paraffins or olefins are used as the reductant as water readily displaces adsorbed nitrogen oxide complexes on the surface which are responsible for hydrocarbon activation. It is likely that oxygenated reductants will prove to be water tolerant as they can compete with water for active sites. With respect to the effect of sulfur, none of these samples have been tested in the presence of SO₂ but two have been tested after exposing the catalysts to SO₂ for extended periods. In the case where propane is the reductant, the peak temperature is shifted from 550°C to 650°C and conversion is lowered from 76% to 20%. Sulfate complexes block the sites responsible for paraffin activation and thus inhibit NOx reduction. This in turn supports the concept that propane performance would be inhibited by water vapor in a similar fashion to sulfur poisoning. In the case where methanol is the reductant, there is only a mild shift in peak temperature (300° to 325°C) and conversion is only mildly lowered from 99% to 95%. Though alumina catalysts with methanol as the reductant remain an attractive catalyst formulation, it still remains unclear how methanol could be efficiently produced on-board so as to avoid the difficulties inherent in using a secondary tank for the reductant. Another limitation to the use of methanol is the propensity to form dimethyl ether at lower temperatures. This volatile organic compound is both a greenhouse gas as well as a contributor to ground level photochemical smog.

There has been significant interest in alumina supported silver catalysts. There are fourteen examples of Ag/Al_2O_3 catalysts presented in **Figure 4**. Of these only one has a peak



temperature which falls in the desired temperature and conversion range while four are close. Six have sufficient conversion but they occur at too high a temperature to be of use for LDD applications. In order to better understand the origin for these vast differences in performance, the data have been collected in **Figure 4A**. Two clear statements can be made about supported silver catalysts; neither methanol nor methane is a selective reductant. By plotting only the peak temperatures, one misses the large conversion window observed when higher hydrocarbons are used. The arrow bars included in Figure 4A highlight the greater than 80% conversion window for several of the catalysts. The 2wt% supported Ag catalysts tested with 2% and 12% water vapor represent two separate formulations tested. For the latter the catalysts have been prepared via impregnation of a dilute AqNO₃ solution onto alumina while the former have been prepared via hydrolysis of an aluminum isoporpoxide - silver nitrate gel. With the exception of the performance with *n*-octane, the catalysts demonstrate very similar performance behaviors even though the space velocity of impregnated catalysts are four times greater and the water content is six times greater. The differences in *n*-octane performance may be a result of silver cluster size or experimental conditions. Overall, there is a correlation between the different experimental studies. It should be noted that the presence of water vapor enhances NOx conversion when higher paraffins are used as the reductant. This can be ascribed to hydrolysis or gasification of coke and coke precursors which would otherwise deactivate the catalyst in dry streams.

In short, the performance data strongly suggest that an alumina supported catalyst could provide sufficient NOx conversion for LDD applications. It should be noted that alumina catalysts are susceptible to sulfur poisoning. As stated above, the NOx conversion performance is strongly inhibited for metal-free catalysts shifting to higher temperatures upon sulfating the surface of the alumina. When propane is used as the reductant in dry streams, the conversion is shifted from a maximum of 76% conversion at 550°C for the fresh catalyst to 20% at 650°C for the sulfated catalyst. In the case of alumina supported silver catalysts, the effect of sulfur is less pronounced. A 4.6wt% supported silver catalyst has been tested using ethanol as the reductant in the presence of 10% water vapor. Greater than 95% NOx conversion is observed over a wide temperature window (300°C to 500°). The addition of 80 ppm SO₂ shrinks the temperature window yielding a maximum conversion of 85% at 475°C. Simulated aging in a dry, elevated SO₂ environment results in a further decrease in conversion to 70% though the peak temperature is still at 475°C. The formation of Aq₂SO₄ is believed to cause the inhibition. However, this inhibition is not catastrophic like in the metal-free case. A better understanding of the effect on NOx conversion performance over alumina supported silver catalysts when higher hydrocarbons are used as the reductant is needed.

In addition to supported silver catalysts, supported platinum catalysts have been of significant interest as a potential emission control technology. In **Figure 4B**, five examples are presented. There catalysts containing 1wt% platinum have been tested using propene as the reductant. All yield peak NOx removal at 250°C. There is a slight space velocity effect where the catalysts at low (5k/h) and high (60k/h) rate show slightly inferior performances to that at a moderate rate (20k/h). Again, as with zeolite-supported platinum catalysts, significant quantities of N₂O are formed as a product. Two examples with a platinum-rhodium alloy are also presented. With a 2wt% Pt:Rh (1:1 mass ratio) catalyst, only 35% of the NOx is converted though the selectivity towards N₂ is high. The lower conversion is ascribed to enhance direct oxidation of propene with oxygen and the enhanced selectivity is ascribed to the presence of rhodium. With a 1wt% Pt:Rh (3:1 mass ratio) catalyst, 60% NOx removal is observed and though the N₂ selectivity is greater than a 1wt% Pt only catalyst, the N₂:N₂O ratio is near unity.



Higher Rh loadings result in lower NOx conversion and therefore addition of Rh will not address the N₂O issue with supported Pt catalysts. A 0.3wt% Pt catalyst has been tested using *n*-octane as the reductant. Though the results show poor NOx conversion (38%), the selectivity towards N₂ is high. It has been demonstrated that the N₂:N₂O ratio is strongly dependant on the reductant used with higher hydrocarbons favoring the formation of N₂ presumably owing to their ability to create larger Pt ensembles and thus increasing the likelihood of two N adatoms reacting to form N₂.

3.3 MIXED-METAL OXIDES (MMO) BASED CATALYSTS

During the course of this program, several other catalyst formulations have been discovered which do not rely on zeolites or alumina as the support material. Those data are collected in Figure 5. Silica, titania and pillared clays are inferior supports. Only two examples possess significant NOx conversion levels. Two platinum catalysts tested have demonstrated significant NOx removal at low temperatures. The silica-supported catalyst has a very high selectivity towards N₂O formation. On the other hand, the zirconia based catalyst (a La_2O_3 – ZrO₂ mixed metal oxide with a 1:1 mass ratio of La:Zr formed via co-precipitation) shows 65% NOx conversion at 200°C even in the presence of 12% water vapor with low N₂O formation. At lower temperatures, this catalyst forms the most N₂O (20% at 150°C) while at higher temperatures this value decrease (8% at 250°C) and eventually N2O formation ceases (at 300°C). Another conversion product is NO₂ which becomes significant above 200°C and reaches a maximum of 10% at 300°C. At 200°C, NO conversion equals 70% of this N₂ accounts for 55%, N₂O for 10% and NO₂ for 5%. Granted the N₂ values are lower than desired; however, of all the non-zeolite, non-alumina supported catalysts, this is the only example which might merit further investigation. Moreover, this formulation shows promise as a route to avoid N_2O formation with Pt-based catalysts.

3.4 REACTION MECHANISMS

3.4.1 ORGANIC SURFACE INTERMEDIATES PATHWAY

For all of the zeolite-supported catalysts, two dominant reaction pathways have been proposed. One involves the formation of organic surface intermediates the other invokes a decomposition pathway which is facilitated by the hydrocarbon reductant. For the surface intermediate pathway, the first step towards NOx reduction is actually NO oxidation to NO₂. The thus formed NO₂ is adsorbed onto the active metal site either as a NO₂ (nitro or nitrito) ligand or is further oxidized to form a surface nitrate. The adsorbed complex is sometimes referred to as a NO_v group to distinguish it from the NOx in the gas phase. These NO_v groups are capable of hydrocarbon activation which usually precedes via the abstraction of a H atom to form a hydrocarbon free-radical. This free-radical can combine with another free-radical such as NO (or NO_2) to form a nitroso alkane or other $C_xH_yN_zO$ complex (e.g., acetone oxime which is an isomer of 2-nitrosopropane). These intermediates react with a gas phase NO (or NO_2) to yield N_2 and a partially oxidized hydrocarbon. It is also possible that the $C_xH_vN_zO$ intermediate can undergo reaction steps to form complexes such as nitriles and isocyanates. In all cases, there is strong evidence from isotopically labeled ¹⁵NO experiments that N₂ formation involves the reaction of an organic-bound nitrogen complex on the catalyst surface with a NO molecule from the gas phase. Experiments where organic-bound nitrogen complexes (such as oximes, nitriles,



isocyanates...) are present on the surface and are exposed to ^{15}NO yield exclusively an isotopically mixed N₂ product.

For these reaction pathways, one major limitation is that the hydrocarbon must be activated via a NO_v surface complex. As most of these studies have been performed in the absence of water vapor, the NO_v complexes readily form. However, in the presence of water vapor, water acts as a competitor for these adsorption sites and will readily displace the NO_{v} to form an aquo complex. This is borne out by the strong inhibition water vapor has when Cu/ZSM-5 employed as the catalyst. This inhibition is strongest when light paraffins are used as the reductant. For heavier paraffins, it is possible for the reductant molecule to condense on the surface of the catalyst and thereby permit hydrocarbon activation via alternate routes. Conversely, when olefins are used, it is possible to activate the hydrocarbon via direct reaction of the carbon-carbon double bond with NOx to create an organic-bound nitrogen complex which subsequently reacts with NOx to form N₂. Olefins are also prone to partial oxidation reactions which can create oxygenated reductants. These reductants are able to compete for active sites even in the presence of water vapor. Once the hydrocarbon is bound to the surface (either via reaction between a carbon-carbon double bond or an oxygen atom with the active sites) subsequent reaction will form a nitrogen containing organic complex on the surface of the catalyst. This complex will then react with a gas phase NOx molecule to form N_2 . The role of oxygenated reductants and their effect on the reaction mechanism will be discussed in further detail in Section 5.3.

3.4.2 NOx DECOMPOSITION PATHWAY

Excessively exchanged Cu/ZSM-5 (Cu/Al > 0.5) has been shown to decompose NO to N_2 . This discovery lead to the great interest in zeolite supported catalysts for NOx abatement and eventually lead to the discovery that many zeolite supported catalysts are active for NOx reduction. Cu/ZSM-5 remains unique in its ability to decompose NO to N_2 at relatively low temperatures. It has been postulated that the requirement that the catalyst be excessively exchanged results in the formation of adjacent copper sites which are capable of adsorbing/desorbing oxygen. The two main limitations to the applicability of Cu/ZSM-5 as a decomposition catalyst in LDD emission control technologies are the presence of water vapor and oxygen in the exhaust streams. Both are known to significantly inhibit the decomposition mechanism. Since both will always be present in the diesel engines exhaust this catalyst will not be successful. In order for a decomposition catalyst to be successful the reaction pathway must be different than that the pathway over Cu/ZSM-5. In other words, it must not be sensitive to either water vapor or residual oxygen both of which will always be present in LDD exhaust streams.

Another reaction pathway involves the dissociative adsorption of NO onto transition metal clusters. This is the main pathway for NOx reduction over supported platinum group metal (PGM) catalysts. This process is known to be enhanced in the presence of a reductant. The role of the reductant is to remove oxygen from the PGM surface. The reductant needs to clear a patch of exposed metal atoms which is large enough for a NO molecule to adsorb dissociatively. The thus formed N adatom can combine with another N adatom to desorb associatively forming N₂. This process is often called "hydrocarbon assisted NO decomposition". It is also possible, however, that the N adatom reacts with an impinging NO molecule resulting in the formation of N₂O. Under the lean conditions employed for these experiment as well as the low temperatures observed in LDD exhausts, a significant fraction of the N adatoms react with NO to form N₂O with Pt-based catalyst formulations. Supported platinum catalysts are not active for N₂O



decomposition at the same temperatures where NOx reduction occurs. Since N_2O decomposition/reduction is difficult under conditions expected for LDD applications, a preferred catalyst would be one that does not form N_2O in the first place.

There is some evidence that in the presence of higher hydrocarbons such as *n*-octane or toluene, the quantity of N_2O formed can be minimized or even completely suppressed. Such a selective reductant would therefore be a molecule capable of creating a patch of exposed Pt atoms which is large enough for dissociative adsorption of NO. It remains to be proven if these non- N_2O forming reductants will maintain the high N_2 selectivity in the presence of nonselective reductants such as propene which will always be present in the exhaust.

4 ACTIVE METALS – SUMMARY

4.1 SUPPORTED PLATINUM CATALYSTS

The data for the supported platinum catalysts are compiled in **Figure 6**. Most of the data have been discussed in the previous sections and have been collected here for a thorough discussion of Pt-based catalysts. The two ferierite (FER) supported Pt catalysts are different from the others on two counts. These catalysts are actually bimetallic with the platinum present mainly for NO oxidation to NO₂. Therefore, the performance of these two catalysts are more indicative of the co-cation (Co or In). Also methane is used as the reductant. As will be discussed in **Section 5.2**, methane catalyst can provide sufficient NOx conversion levels but almost exclusively at temperatures outside the desired range. The carbon supported catalyst uses propene as the reductant. The peak NOx conversion temperatures are much higher than most other supported platinum catalysts using propene; there is a strong indication that the support material is participating in the reduction process. Carbon supports are not desirable for LDD applications since exhaust temperatures would frequently reach conditions that could facilitate the combustion of the support material.

With the exception of one point, all other supported platinum catalyst show peak NOx conversion at or below 300°C with reductants other than methane. Ultra-stable Y zeolite (USY) supported catalysts convert over 90% of the NOx when propene is the reductant. If the C/NOx ratio is lowered (from 4.5 to 0.65) and part of the propene is replaced with propane, then the conversion level is strongly impacted with conversion levels falling to below 25% and peak temperature shifting from 200°C to 300°C. Subsequent addition of 10% water vapor and 300 ppm SO₂ has little impact though since the conversion levels are already strongly inhibited water and sulfur tolerance should not be inferred. Alumina-supported catalysts also display significant NOx reduction at low temperatures. As stated in **Section 3.3**, the addition of rhodium favors N₂ formation but lowers the conversion level. When testing catalysts with Pt loadings around 1wt%, most reductants yield between 50-70% NOx conversion provided that the C/NO ratio is two or greater. Most catalysts provide sufficient NOx removal when the platinum is present as large crystals as this provides enough space for ensembles of platinum atoms to become exposed to the gas phase after reaction with a hydrocarbon. Bulk impregnation of a platinum salt onto the support will create an active catalyst.

The limitation for all supported platinum catalysts is the high propensity to form N₂O. This can be mitigated by employing specific hydrocarbon reductants. Heptane and propene have N₂O/N₂ yields \geq 1. Toluene, conversely, has 100% N₂ selectivity. It is difficult to envision on-board production of toluene and, the selectivity of streams with mixed reductant feeds (e.g., toluene/propene) has not been studied. It is likely that these feeds will yield N₂O. Therefore



preventing the formation of N₂O will most likely not arise from employing a unique selective reductant. It is therefore necessary that a catalyst formulation modification that prevents the formation of N₂O or a novel catalyst that concomitantly removes the thus formed N₂O must be discovered. A large number of catalysts have been tested for direct decomposition of N₂O. Most possess light-off temperatures that are greater than the desired temperature window for LDD applications. Rhodium exchanged zeolites and Al₂O₃ supported Rh catalysts have been shown to decompose N₂O at low temperatures; e.g., Rh/ZSM-5 achieves 50% conversion at 275°C. While addition of O₂ only slightly inhibits catalysis, the effect of H₂O addition is not currently known. The reaction temperature is still slightly too high for LDD applications.

Further research is needed into N_2O avoidance or mitigation for Pt-based catalysts. Until of these limitations can be overcome, supported platinum catalysts will not be the catalyst of choice for LDD applications.

4.2 SUPPORTED SILVER CATALYSTS

Conversion data for supported silver catalysts are presented in **Figure 7**. Methane and methanol have been proven to be nonselective reductants. When a ZSM-5 supported silver catalyst is doped with ceria, the resulting catalyst has greatly enhanced performance (from 28% to 80%) with methane as the reductant. The peak conversion temperature is lowered from 600° C to 500° C. This is attributed to ceria catalyzing NO oxidation to NO₂. Still, the performance is not within the desired temperature window. There are a series of promoted zirconia supported catalysts which contain silver and copper as the active sites. Though these catalysts do not possess sufficient activity for LDD application, they do demonstrate a trend that higher hydrocarbons are better for NOx removal.

Alumina supported silver catalysts are the best performers. Conversion levels are high and there is a broad temperature window where conversion is greater than 80%. Higher paraffins and many alcohols are very active for NOx reduction and are not inhibited by the presence of water vapor. The effect of SO_2 is not well documented though it clearly is not as catastrophic as is the case with the metal-free alumina catalysts.

There are two main routes for alumina supported silver catalyst synthesis, incipient wetness and hydrolysis of a silver ion - aluminum alkoxide gel. Incipient wetness is the simplest procedure. A dilute silver salt solution is carefully added to a dehydrated alumina sample. The volume of solution is just sufficient enough to fill the pores and cover the surface of the alumina powder. A dilute solution is required to promote metal dispersion and the minimum volume is used in order to prevent ion migration while the sample is dried. The silver salt employed must have high solubility and must be combustible. In other words, the anion must decompose or burn during the calcination step thus leaving silver oxide clusters on the surface. In addition to its simplicity, this procedure also ensures that all of the silver will be either on the exterior of the alumina crystal or within the pore structure. This in turn ensures that dispersion drops as the weight loading increases. This procedure tends not to be used for the synthesis of high metal loaded catalysts.

The hydrolysis procedure uses a silver salt dissolved in an aluminum alkoxide gel. Aluminum *iso*-propoxide is the most common aluminum salt used. The silver – aluminum gel is usually made with an alcohol such as ethanol. Upon addition of water, the *iso*-propoxide is displaced to form hydroxyl bridges between aluminum and silver atoms; this creates a silveraluminum hydroxide precipitate. *Iso*-propanol is formed as a byproduct. The precipitate is washed to remove any ions present that were not incorporated into the precipitate as well as to



remove residual alcohol. Calcination at 500°C creates the finished catalyst. The resultant catalyst has high metal dispersion even at high metal loadings. In addition to being more complex than simple impregnation techniques, hydrolysis also creates silver sites which are buried within the crystal structure. These sites are not accessible to the gas phase and therefore are inactive. On the whole, hydrolysis tends to produce better catalysts than incipient wetness techniques.

4.3 SUPPORTED COPPER CATALYSTS

Ever since Cu/ZSM-5 was identified as an active catalyst for both the direct decomposition of NO and SCR-HC, supported copper catalysts have been the main focus for deNOx catalysis research. A large body of data exists for Cu/ZSM-5 in SCR-HC catalysis. Unfortunately, the majority of the data available for Cu/ZSM-5 catalysts have been collected in the absence of water vapor or SO₂. For the purpose of this study, the data can be condensed into the following statements. Though Cu/ZSM-5 is active for NOx reduction with hydrocarbons, the inherent properties of this catalyst formulation make it unsuitable as an emission control technology for LDD applications. The presence of water vapor displaces surface NOv complexes responsible for light hydrocarbon activation. As a result, direct oxidation of the hydrocarbon by O₂ becomes the dominant and, therefore, non-selective reaction. NOx reduction becomes strongly inhibited by the presence of water vapor. This inhibition is reversible if water exposure is brief. Heavier hydrocarbons (C₈₊) have demonstrated high NOx conversion even in the presence of water vapor. Unfortunately, extended hydrothermal exposure leads to irreversible catalyst deactivation regardless if light or heavy hydrocarbons are employed as the reductant. In addition to the well documented water inhibition, Cu/ZSM-5 also possesses a strong sensitivity towards SO₂ arising from the formation of CuSO₄.

Owing to the ubiquitous nature of water vapor from internal combustion engines, Cu/ZSM-5 will never have use in LDD emission control technologies. Copper catalysts in general exhibit strong water and sulfur sensitivities and will not be of interest for further study.

5 EFFECT OF THE REDUCTANT – SUMMARY

5.1 LIGHT OLEFINS AND PARAFFINS

Many of the catalysts which are active for NOx reduction with light olefins or paraffins as the reductant display a strong inhibition in the presence of water vapor, Cu/ZSM-5 is chief among these. This is unfortunate as these reductant species form via in-cylinder, incomplete combustion. There are a few catalysts such as Fe/ZSM-5 that show promise. Catalyst synthesis involves a solid-gas exchange reaction between FeCl₃ and the zeolite protons to produce active iron sites and gaseous HCl or via ion-exchange of FeC₂O₄ under anaerobic conditions. This complex synthesis route is required as catalysts prepared via a traditional ion-exchange route are significantly less active. It is also the origin for the performance discrepancies reported in the literature. As a result, Fe/ZSM-5 may have limited industrial interest. In comparison to catalysts formed via the traditional ion-exchange method, Co/ZSM-5 formed via solid-gas exchange synthesis demonstrates improved NOx conversion levels at lower temperatures with light olefins or paraffins used as the reductant. Again, the complexity of catalyst synthesis will limit interest in these formulations.

Supported platinum catalysts are active in the desired temperature window for NOx reduction. Unfortunately, when light olefins are used, there is a strong propensity to form N_2O .



Light paraffins are not selective and are directly oxidized by O_2 forming CO_2 and H_2O . Higher paraffins such as *n*-octane are active and these higher hydrocarbons form less N_2O than when light olefins are used as the reductant.

No catalyst formulation is known which efficiently uses the reductants readily produced in-cylinder (light olefins and light paraffins) in realistic exhaust atmospheres. Many catalysts are efficient for NOx reduction but only in the absence of water vapor and SO₂.

5.2 METHANE

Methane as a NOx reductant has received considerable attention in the stationary power industry where it is a common fuel source. The conversion efficiencies for several catalyst with methane as the reductant are presented in **Figure 8**. As evidenced in the graph, most catalysts exhibit NOx conversion at elevated temperatures which are significantly greater than those desired for LDD applications. Therefore, methane-based solutions will not be successful for LDD applications.

5.3 OXYGENATED REDUCTANTS

Increasingly, oxygenated hydrocarbons have been investigated as selective reductants for NOx removal. Initial results are quite promising. NOx conversion efficiencies with oxygenated reductants are presented in **Figure 9**. Several points are borne out by these data. Supported silver catalysts are active when the support material is alumina but not with titania or silica. Alumina-supported silver catalysts are not active with methanol but metal-free alumina catalysts are active. With higher alcohols, conversion is high for alumina-supported silver catalysts. Small dispersed silver sites are more active and have peak NOx conversion at lower temperatures than large silver clusters. It is important to note that the conversion windows for these systems are rather large with > 80% conversion occurring over a 125°C range. Moreover, surface sulfation has only a minor impact on metal-free alumina catalyst performance with methanol as the reductant. When propane is the reductant, severe inhibition is observed over the metal-free alumina catalysts upon surface sulfation. Surface sulfation has significantly less of an impact on supported silver catalysts. Highly dispersed alumina supported silver catalysts show promise for LDD applications.

Another catalyst formulation which is gaining significant interest is Ba/Y zeolite. In a simulated exhaust stream with 500 ppm C_2H_4O , 200 ppm NO_2 , 8% O_2 , 2% H_2O balance N_2 , significant NOx reduction is observed. Conversion levels are similar when C_3H_6O or C_4H_8O (at constant C/NOx) is used as the reductant. Conversely, CH_2O does not react over Ba/Y zeolite under these conditions. Over the metal-free alumina catalysts, conversion levels are significantly improved when NO_2 is present in the feed gas. This difference is not observed when Ba/Y zeolite is the catalysts.

Though Ba/Y zeolite presents a catalyst formulation with significant NOx conversion within the desired temperature range two issues must be addressed prior to a successful application of this technology for LDD applications. First, the desired reductant needs to be provided. One option is to use a separate tank though this removes the key benefit of SCR-HC: on-board production of reduction. The other option is to form the oxygenates upstream of the catalysts. A partial oxidation catalyst could be employed for this. Recently, the use of non-thermal plasma has shown great promise.



6 POTENTIAL OF NON-THERMAL PLASMA (NTP)

Non-Thermal Plasma (NTP) has been investigated as an enabling technology for SCR-HC. Dielectric Barrier Discharge (DBD) devises have been commercially available for over 100 years. In general, a gas flow is passed through parallel plates covered with a dielectric barrier (commonly alumina). Upon application of a high voltage alternating current, a corona is created between the plates. A DBD devise placed upstream of a catalyst has shown promise as part of an emission control technology. An alternate design uses wire placed inside a metallic tube. A pulsed, high voltage creates a plasma plume which is propagated through the cylinder. The pulse must be on the order of tens of nanoseconds in order to prevent arcing. The metallic cylinder can be filled with catalyst beads allowing catalysis to occur within the plasma plume. Similar NOx conversion performances have been reported for both configurations. This demonstrates that catalysis is not contingent upon the short-lived species such as \cdot OH, e⁻ or O₃ formed in the corona.

In order to maintain the plasma, energy is required. Typically 20 to 60 J/L is required to reach maximum NOx conversions. Higher energy input leads to negligible performance increases while contributing to increased fuel consumption. It is important to minimize the energy requirements of a NPT-based ECT as this will draw power from the vehicle resulting in an added fuel penalty.

For NOx reduction, the pertinent chemistries are believed to be oxidation of NO to NO_2 without concomitant SO_2 to SO_3 oxidation and partial hydrocarbon oxidation. Within the corona plume, several free-radical species are believed to exist. At the exit of the DBD devise, HNO_3 , NO_2 , CH_2O , C_2H_4O , CO and CO_2 have all been detected from initial streams with NO, O_2 , C_3H_6 and H_2O . Nitro-alkanes have also been detected.

Though most of the catalyst formulations tested have been proprietary, three have been openly discussed in the literature, Na/Y zeolite, Ba/Y zeolite and γ Al₂O₃. Ba/Y yields 70-80% NOx conversion at 200°C. Alumina catalysts show high conversion levels (70%) but only at elevated temperatures (525°C). Na/Y zeolite yields 70% conversion at 225°C. The performance of these catalysts are equivalent but the differences in temperature for maximum conversion makes Ba/Y zeolite the most promising formulation. By comparison to 'thermal' catalysis (without a plasma), recent data with Ba/Y zeolite using simulated diesel exhausts show that the likely benefit of NTP is the formation of C₂H₄O by partial oxidation of propene.

There are several limitations with NTP which must be solved prior to employing this technology in industrial applications. Some of the byproducts from the plasma are toxic. As stated above, aldehydes are formed in the plume. While acetaldehyde and higher aldehydes react over Ba/Y zeolite and other catalyst surfaces this does not occur for formaldehyde. In addition, hydrocyanic acid (HCN) formation has been detected. The use of an oxidation catalyst is required to combust the products that do not react over the Ba/Y zeolite catalyst. If this catalysts is platinum-based there is a strong likelihood that N₂O formation of N₂O represents its own litany of issues. In addition, NTP catalysts have a strong propensity to form organic deposits on the catalyst surface. These deposits will readily combust at higher temperatures even leading to the formation of N₂. It should be noted though that for extended operation at lower temperatures, it is possible to saturate the catalyst surface and thus strongly inhibit catalysis. The NTP unit itself is another issue. Cost effective production of DBD devices and plasma durability remains to be demonstrated.



7

ENGINE PARAMETERS AND OTHER VARIABLES

SCR-HC will not achieve the legislated emission targets of 0.07g/mi (TIER II Bin 5) by improved catalyst formulation alone. Several parameters need to be optimized in order for this technology to reach the future goals. First and paramount is thermal management of exhaust temperatures. Most of the SCR-HC catalysts display NOx conversion within a narrow temperature window. Even with alumina supported silver catalyst using oxygenated reductant, the catalyst must reach a minimum temperature (light-off) rapidly and must be maintained within that range. If temperatures are too low, then the hydrocarbon does not react; too high, O₂ directly oxidizes the hydrocarbon. For LDD applications, exhaust gas temperatures are below 150°C for a significant fraction of the legislated drive cycle. The catalyst temperature can be increased via combustion of additional fuel. Considering the time exhaust gas temperature is below 150°C, the quantity of fuel required to maintain the catalyst within the desired range would be cost prohibitive. An alternate approach is required.

One of the keys to thermal management is to size properly the engine to vehicle weight ratio. The smaller the ratio, the higher the exhaust temperatures. Using too large an engine forces significant constraints of the efficiency and cost of the emission control technology. Another technique to increase exhaust gas temperatures is cylinder deactivation. During low load operation, cylinder deactivation will be a useful technique to maintain the catalyst operating in the optimum temperature window. This will be important as a significant fraction of the FTP drive cycle has exhaust temperatures that would normally be below 200°C. Cylinder deactivation will minimize this percentage. It is unlikely that a catalyst technology will be discovered that is capable of reducing NOx to N_2 at temperatures below 150°C.

By minimizing engine out NOx concentrations, the burden on the ECT is thusly reduced. The use of exhaust gas recirculation (EGR) greatly reduces engine out NOx concentrations. Over the light-duty modal test, engine out NOx concentration has been decreased from 3.7 g/mi to 0.27 g/mi by the introduction of cooled EGR to a 7.3L V8 engine (MY 2000). This is a 93% decrease. As a result, a further 74% reduction in NOx is required. Unfortunately, EGR leads to a concomitant increase in particulate matter mass. This will necessitate the use of a particulate filter trap.

In order to meet the legislated emission targets, 'enabling' technologies such as EGR and thermal management strategies will be required in order for SCR-HC to be effective.

8 COMPARISON TO SELECTIVE CATALYTIC REDUCTION WITH NH₃

SCR-NH₃ is currently used in many industrial NOx emission control applications, most notably in the stationary power generation industry. This process relies on the reaction of an ammonia molecule with a NOx molecule to form N₂ in a process similar to the decomposition of NH₄NO₂ and NH₄NO₃ which form N₂ and N₂O, respectively. Over V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalysts, greater than 80% NOx conversion is observed at 350°C. By incorporation of WO₂ into the formulation, the light-off temperature is reduced by over 100°C with 80% NOx conversion attained at 225°C. Isotopically labeled experiments have shown that one nitrogen atom originates from a NH₃ while the other is from NOx. The reactions are as follows:

 $4 \text{ NH}_3 + 4 \text{ NO} + \text{O}_2 \rightarrow 4 \text{ N}_2 + 6 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$

$$4 \text{ NH}_3 + 2 \text{ NO}_2 + \text{O}_2 \rightarrow 3 \text{ N}_2 + 6 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$$

Since the NH_3/NOx ratio depends on the oxidation state of NOx, there is a potential for either excessive or insufficient NH_3 addition thus yielding either NH_3 or NOx slip, respectively. To



prevent NH₃ slip, the use of an oxidation catalyst downstream of the SCR unit is common. Though this converts NH₃ to NOx, it eliminates NH₃-slip. As the incoming NOx concentrations vary during the drive cycle, predicting the required dose of NH₃ is difficult. Another reaction to consider is:

 $4 \text{ NH}_3 + 4 \text{ NO} + 3 \text{ O}_2 \rightarrow 4 \text{ N}_2\text{O} + 6 \text{ H}_2\text{O}$

This non-desirable reaction needs to be avoided as N_2O is a strong greenhouse gas. These three reactions are not inhibited by the presence of water vapor or SO_2 . Though it is possible to form NH_4NO_3 or $(NH_3)_2SO_4$ on the catalyst surface, these compounds readily decompose below $300^{\circ}C$.

Other formulations such as supported Pt catalyst and zeolite supported catalyst have been proven very efficient for SCR-NH₃. Supported Pt catalysts are active at lower temperatures (150° to 350°C) though these formulations are more prone to N₂O formation than others. Zeolite supported catalysts are active at higher temperatures (350°C to 600°C). For LDD applications, supported Pt and promoted V₂O₅/TiO₂ catalysts are ideal.

For stationary power generators, the storage of large guantities of toxic NH_3 is less of an issue compared to mobile applications such as LDD. As a result, compressed NH₃ is not the desired source for the reductant. Two other compounds have been investigated: urea and ammonium carbamate. Urea is stored as a 30-36wt% solution while ammonium carbamate is a solid. Based on lower cost and ease of use, urea is the preferred source for the SCR-NH₃ reductant. During catalysis, urea is injected up stream of the catalysis. At temperatures above 160°C, urea readily undergoes hydrolysis to form 2 NH₃ and CO₂. Urea also decomposes to NH_3 + HNCO. There are additional byproducts (cyanuric acid, biuret, ammeline, ammelide, melamine, etc.) formed during urea decomposition. These byproduct may prompt government legislation which strongly deters the use of urea as the on-board source of NH₃. Urea injection is stopped when the exhaust gas temperature is below 160°C to minimize urea decomposition and avoid urea crystals forming on the injector. The injection equipment is complex so as to ensure proper atomization and to prevent urea crystallization. Though urea injection is stopped when the exhaust gas temperature is below 160°C, these catalysts are capable of storing NH_3 at the Lewis acid sites. These stored NH₃ complexes account for a significant amount of NOx removal at lower temperatures.

There are two major limitations preventing widespread use of SCR-NH₃. The first is logistics. Currently, there is not a nationwide infrastructure for urea distribution nor is there a clear method to achieve this. Second, this technology requires the urea tank to be replenished. In order to ensure that the system is working properly, an on-board diagnostic is needed which prevents the driver from circumventing urea refills. Since urea is not require to operate the engine, it is facile to avoid refilling the urea tank. These two issues are significant obstacles preventing widespread use of urea-based SCR-NH₃ and demonstrate the benefits that SCR-HC possess as a potential ECT for LDD applications.

9 SUMMARY AND PROPOSAL FOR FUTURE WORK

Despite the large body of literature pertaining to SCR-HC, the vast majority of these studies failed to include realistic diesel exhaust gas constituents; namely, water vapor and SO₂. As a result, it is difficult to determine which, if any, technology is a potential ECT for LDD applications. The most studied catalyst, Cu/ZSM-5, is irreversibly deactivated in the presence of water vapor and SO₂ and therefore is not a viable candidate. Most of the catalyst formulations



studied either demonstrate too low NOx conversions or have peak conversions at temperatures above the desired window for LDD applications. For this study, a potential catalyst has been defined as one that converts at least 70% NOx at or below 300°C.

Supported platinum catalysts show significant NOx conversion within the desired temperature range. Catalysis is not inhibited by water vapor or SO₂. Unfortunately, significant N₂O formation is observed with this formulation. The N₂/N₂O product ratio depends on the reductant employed. Light olefins tend to produce a large N₂O fraction while heavier reductants (such as toluene or *n*-octane) produce less or none. Light paraffins such as propane are non-selective reductants as they lead to direct oxidation via O₂. In order for supported Pt catalyst to achieve greater acceptance as part of an ECT, either a Pt formulation which does not form N₂O or a novel catalyst formation which concomitantly removes N₂O needs to be discovered.

Of all the zeolite-supported catalysts, only Fe/ZSM-5, produced via a solid-gas exchange or anaerobic aqueous exchange of FeC_2O_4 processes, shows promise. The best catalyst from this group is formed by solid-gas exchange which displays 75% NOx removal at 350°C. This catalyst is tolerant to water vapor and SO₂. Fe/ZSM-5 catalysts produced via the traditional metal-in-solution ion exchange route are significantly less active. Therefore, the complex procedure is required. A more direct, simpler synthesis route is needed prior to Fe/ZSM-5 receiving greater industrial interest.

Alumina supported silver catalysts show the greatest promise. The use of heavier reductants (*n*-octane or higher) as well as the use of oxygenates (C_{2+} alcohols or aldehydes) have been proven rather effective for NOx removal. Moreover, alumina supported silver formulations demonstrate a broad temperature window with > 80% NOx conversion occurring over a 125°C range. The presence of water vapor does not inhibit the reaction. In fact, water vapor inhibits catalyst deactivation when heavy paraffins are employed as the reductant. The effect of SO₂ appears to be minimal; further investigation is required. The support material affects silver-based catalyst performance with alumina being active while those formed with titania or silica are inactive. The incipient wetness technique or hydrolysis of an aluminum alkoxide - silver salt gel are both successful catalyst preparation routes. Higher loaded catalysts formed via incipient wetness lead to lower NOx conversion with the maxima at higher temperatures. This is ascribed to the formation of large silver clusters which do not form with the gel process. In order for alumina supported silver catalysts to achieve success as an ECT for LDD applications, a method for forming oxygenated reductants *in-situ* is required.

Non-Thermal Plasma is of increasing interest for LDD applications. The use of a DBD device upstream of a catalyst provides the catalyst with the required reactants: NO₂ and oxygenated reductants such as formaldehyde and acetaldehyde. Catalysts such as Ba/Y zeolite (80% at 200°C) and Na/Y zeolite (70% at 225°C) have been proven efficient for NOx reduction at low temperatures. There are several limitations with NTP. First, these catalysts tend to form significant quantities of organic surface deposits on the catalysts at lower temperatures. It is possible to saturate the surface and thereby deactivate the catalyst if an engine operates at low speed and load for extended periods. Second, the plasma produces several toxic byproducts such as HCN and CH₂O which do not react over Ba/Y zeolite or Na/Y zeolite. An oxidation catalyst is therefore needed. The use of supported platinum catalysts yields N₂O formation which entails its own issues. Third, the NTP unit requires energy input which decreases the fuel economy and the DBD devise has not been proven to be durable for this application though several groups (industrial and government) are actively pursuing this technology.

It is unlikely that catalyst formulations will be discovered which actively reduce NOx to N₂ at temperatures below 150°C. Unfortunately, exhaust gas temperatures are below 200°C during



a significant fraction of the FTP drive cycle. Therefore techniques which increase exhaust gas temperatures will facilitate SCR-HC becoming a viable route to achieve US TIER 2 Bin 5 NOx emission targets of 0.07g/mi. This can include reduced engine to vehicle weight ratios or engine management (cylinder deactivation) which both will increase exhaust temperatures. Another route would include a method for storing NOx emissions during cool exhaust conditions and later re-injecting the stored NOx once the ECT has achieved light-off conditions.

Suggested areas of future research:

- All future research endeavors to include realistic diesel exhaust conditions: water vapor and SO₂
- Pt-based formulations which do not form N₂O
- Novel catalyst formulations which decompose/reduce N₂O below 300°C
- Facile synthesis routes to form Fe/ZSM-5 with equivalent performance and durability as those formed by the solid-gas or anaerobic aqueous exchange of FeC₂O₄
- On-board routes to form oxygenated reductants for silver-based catalysts
- Continued investigation into non-thermal plasma technologies
- Engine thermal management techniques to minimize exhaust conditions which are below 180°C – maintain catalyst within peak operating temperature window
- Techniques for storing NOx emissions during cool exhaust conditions followed by re-injection of the stored NOx when the ECT has achieved lightoff conditions.



APPENDICES

1 LITERATURE SELECTED

1.1 Hydrocarbon-Based SCR References:

"Advances in DeNOx Catalyst Technology for European Stage IV Emission Levels" M. S. Brogan, N. S. Will, M. V. Twigg, A. J. J. Wilkins, K. Jordan, R. J. Brisley from *The Euro IV Challenge: Future Engine & System Technologies* (1997) London I. Mech. E. paper S490/012/97.

"Catalysis by Gold" G. C. Bond, Catal. Rev. – Sci. Eng. 41[3&4] (1999) 319-388.

"Catalyst Effectiveness Factor of Cobalt-Exchanged Mordenites for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO with Hydrocarbons" A. Shichi, A. Satsuma, M. Iwase, K.-I. Shimizu, S.-I. Komai, T. Hattori, Appl Catal. B 17 (1998) 107-113.

"Catalytic Decomposition of Nitrous Oxide on Metal Exchanged Zeolites" Y. Li, J. N. Armor, Appl. Catal. B 1 (1992) L21-L29.

"Catalytic Performance of Ag-Al₂O₃ Catalyst for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Higher Hydrocarbons" K. Shimizu, A. Satsuma, T. Hattori, Appl. Catal. B 25 (2000) 239-247.

"Catalytic Removal of NO" V. I. Pâvulescu, P. Grange, B. Delmon, Catal. Today 46 (1998) 233-316.

"Catalysts for Nitrogen Oxides Control under Lean Burn Conditions" T. J. Truex, R. A. Searles, D. C. Sun, Platinum Metals Rev. 36 (1992) 2-11.

"Ce/ZSM-5 Catalysts for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx in Stationary Diesel Exhaust Gas" W. E. J. van Kooten, B. Liang, H. C. Krijnsen, O. L. Oudshoorn, H. P. A. Calis, C. M. van den Bleek, Appl. Catal. B 21 (1999) 203-213.

"The $CH_4/NO/O_2$ 'Lean-deNOx' Reaction on Mesoporous Mn-Based Mixed Oxides" V. N. Stathopoulos, C. N. Costa, P. J. Pomonis, A. M. Efstathiou, Topics in Catal. 16/17 (2001) 231-235.

"Changes in Cu²⁺ Environment Upon Wet Deactivation of Cu/ZSM-5 deNOx Catalysts" S.A. Gómez, A. Campero, A. Martínez-Hernández, G. A. Fuentes, Appl. Catal. A 197 (2000) 157-164.

"Characterization and Performance of Pt/USY in the SCR of NOx with Hydrocarbons under Lean-Burn Conditions" J. Pérez, J. M. Garcia-Cortés, F. Kapteijn, G. Mul, J. A. Moulijn, C. Salinas-Martinez de Lecea, Appl. Catal. B 29 (2001) 285-298.

"Characterization of the Role of Pt on CoPt and InPt Ferrierite Activity and Stability upon the SCR of NO with CH₄" L. Gutierrez, L. Cornaglia, E. Miró, J. Petunchi, in <u>Studies in Surface</u> <u>Science and Catalysis</u> Corma, Melo, Mendioroz, Fierro (Eds) 130 (2000) 1535-1540.



"Comparative Study of Pt-Based Catalysts on Different Supports in the Low-Temperature deNOx-SCR with Propene" J. M. Garcia-Cortéz, J. Pérez-Ramirez, M. J. Illián-Gómez, F. Kapteijin, J. A. Moulijn, C. Salinas-Martinez de Lecea, Appl. Catal. B 30 (2001) 399-408.

"A Comparison of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx over Al_2O_3 and sulfated Al_2O_3 using CH₃OH and C₃H₈ as Reductants" R. Burch, E. Halpin, J. A. Sullivan, Appl. Catal. B 17 (1998) 115-129.

"Copper-Exchanged Mordenites as Active Catalysts for NO Selective Catalytic Reduction by Propene under Oxidizing Conditions: Effect of Si/Al Ratio, Copper Content and Brönsted Acidity" C. Torre-Abreu, M. F. Ribiero, C. Henriqes, F. R. Ribeiro, Appl. Catal. B 13 (1997) 251-264.

"DeNOx Mechanism on Platinum Based Catalysts" V. Pitchon, A. Fritz, G. Marie, from <u>Catalysis</u> <u>and Automotive Pollution Control IV</u> Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis vol. 116 N. Kruse, A. Frennet, J.-M. Bastin Eds. (1998) Elsevier Science 243-253.

"DeNOx Reduces Diesel Engine Emissions" K. Miller, OEM Industry (1996) 38-41.

"Dual Bed catalytic System for NO_x-N₂O Removal: A Practical Application for Lean-Burn deNOx HC-SCR" J. Pérez, J. M. García-Cortéz, F. Kapteijn, M. J. Illán-Gómez, A. Ribera, C. Salinas-Martínez de Lecea, J. A. Moulijn, Appl. Catal. B 25 (2000) 191-203.

"Development of Truck Engine Technologies for Use with Fischer Tropsch Fuels" M. P. May, K. Vertin, S. Ren, X. Gui, I. Myburgh, P. Schaberg, SAE 2001-01-3520.

"Effect of Hydrocarbon Composition on Lean NOx Catalysis" A. R. Collier, B. Wedekind SAE 973000.

"Effect of Selective Reduction of Nitric Oxide on Zeolite Structure" J. O. Petunchi, W. K. Hall, Appl. Catal. B 3 (1994) 239-257.

"Effect of Various Hydrocarbons on the Plasma deNOx Process" K.-S. Park, D.–I. Kim, H.-S. Lee, K. M. Chun, B. H. Chun, SAE 2001-01-3515.

"Emission Reduction of Regenerative Fuel Powered Co-Generation Plants with SCR- and Oxidation-Catalysts" J. Lachenmaier, A. Dobiasch, R. Meyer-Pittroff, Topics in Catal. 16/17 (2001) 437-442.

"Effect of SO₂ on NOx Reduction by Ethanol over Ag/Al₂O₃ Catalyst" A. Abe, N. Aoyama, N. Kakuta, K. Yoshida, Catal. Lett. 51 (1998) 5-9.

"Enhanced Activity of Sn_{1-x}Zr_xO₂ Solid Solution for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO in the Presence of O₂" M. Jun, W. Wei, C. Xiaohai, X. Youchang, Chinese J. Catal. 20 (1999) 385-386.

"Enhancing Effect of SO₂ on Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Methanol over Ag/Al₂O₃" T. Zhu, J. Hao, W. Li, Chem. Lett. (2000) 478-479.



"Fiat Third Generation DI Diesel Engine" *The Euro IV Challenge: Future Engine & System Technologies* (1997) London I. Mech. E. paper S490/004/97.

"Four Way Diesel with Optimized Washcoat and Brick Combination" S. H. Kim, C. B. In, C. D. Kim, W. S. Cho, FISTA 27th Congress, Paris (1998) 2-11.

"FTIR Study of the Nature and Reactivity of the Products of Nitromethane Transformation on the Surface of Copper- and Cobalt-Exchanged ZSM-5 Zeolites as Related to the Mechanism of NOx CH₄-SCR" S. A. Beloshapkin, E. A. Paukshtis, V. A. Sadykov, J. Molec. Catal. A 158 (2000) 355-359.

"GC-MS Identification of Organic By-Products of the NO SCR by Propene; Relation to N_2O Formation" E. Joubert, J. C. Menezo, D. Duprez, J. Barbier, Topics in Catal. 16/17 (2001) 225-229.

"Heterogeneous Catalytic Decomposition of Nitrous Oxide" F. Kapteijn, J. Rodriguez-Mirasol, J. A. Moulijn, Appl. Catal. B 9 (1996) 25-64.

"Hino Develops deNOx Catalyst for Trucks" Automotive Environment Analysis 37 (1998) 10.

"Hydrocarbon deNOx Catalysis – System Development for Diesel Passenger Cars and Trucks" H. Klein, S. Lopp, E. Lox, M. Kawanami, M. Horiuchi, SAE 1999-01-0109.

"Identification of Copper(II) and Copper(I) and Their Interconversion in Cu/ZSM-5 de-NOx Catalysts" G.-D. Lei, B. J. Adelman, W. M. H. Sachtler, Appl. Catal. B 5 (1995) 245-256.

"In-Containing H/ZSM-5 Zeolites with Various Si/AI Ratios for the NO SCR in the Presence of CH_4 and O_2 . PAC, TPAD and FTIR Studies" F. G. Requejo, J. M. Ramallo-López, E. J. Lede, E. E. Miró, L. B. Pierella, O. A. Anunziata, Catal. Today 54 (1999) 553-558.

"Influence of Geometry-Limited Diffusion on the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Hydrocarbons over Cu-Exchanged Zeolite" A. Shichi, A. Satsuma, T. Hattori, Appl. Catal. B 30 (2001) 25-33.

"Influence of Hydrocarbon Molecular Size on the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Hydrocarbons over Cu/MFI Zeolite" A. Shichi, A. Satsuma, T. Hattori, Appl. Catal. A 207 (2001) 315-321.

"Influence of Hydrocarbons on the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx over Ag/Al_2O_3 – Laboratory and Engine Tests" K. Eränen, L.-E. Lindfors, A. Niemi, P. Elfving L. Cider, SAE 2000-01-2813.

"Intrapore Catalysis in Reduction of Nitric Oxide with Methane" M. Ogura, M. Hayashi, E. Kikuchi, Catal. Today 42 (1998) 159-166.

"An Investigation into Strategies to Increase the Catalytic Reaction of a Passive deNOx Catalyst on a Diesel Passenger Car" J. T. Russel, B. Wedekind, from <u>EAEC Congress Lightweight &</u> <u>Small Cars - The Answer to Future Needs</u>, Cernobbio, Italy, 1997, Paper No. 97A2II22.

21 JUNE 2002



"Kinetic Analysis of the Decomposition of Nitrous Oxide over ZSM-5 Catalysts" F. Kapeijn, G. Marbán, J. Rodriguez-Mirasol, J. A. Moulijn, J. Catal 167 (1997) 256-265.

"Kinetic Studies of Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide by Propylene on Pt/MCM-41 Catalysts" S.-C. Shen, S. Kawi, Catal. Today 68 (2001) 245-254.

"Mechanistic Cause of Hydrocarbon Specificity over Cu/ZSM-5 and Co/ZSM-5 Catalysts in the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx" B. J. Adelman, T. Beutel, G.-D. Lei, W. M. H. Sachtler, J. Catal. 158 (1996) 327-335.

"Mechanistic Study of SCR-NO with Methane over Pd-Loaded BEA Zeolite" Y.-K. Park, J. W. Lee, C. W. Lee, S.-E. Park, J. Molec. Catal. A 158 (2000) 173-179.

"New Insights into the Origin of NO₂ in the Mechanism of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Propene over Alumina" F. C. Meunier, J. P. Breen, J. R. H. Ross, Chem. Commun. (1999) 259-260.

"Mechanistic Study of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide with Methane over Yttrium Oxide" M. D. Fokema, J. Y. Ying, J. Catal. 192 (2000) 54-63.

"A New MFI-Type Zeolite Containing Uniform Supermicropores: Synthesis by Structural Transformation of CTA+-MCM-41 and Application in SCR of NOx" X. Chen, S. Kawi, Chem. Commun. (2001) 1354-1355.

"On the Mechanism of the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO to N_2 by H_2 over Ru/MgO and Ru/Al₂O₃ Catalyts" A. Hornung, M. Muhler, G. Ertl, Topics in Catalysis 11/12 (2000) 263-270.

"On the Nature of Active Sites in Fe/ZSM-5 Catalysts for NOx Abatement" T. V. Voskoboinikov, H.-Y. Chen, W. M. H. Sachtler, Appl. Catal. B 19 (1998) 279-287.

"On the Unusual Stability of Overexchanged Fe/ZSM-5" W. Feng and W. K. Hall Catal. Lett. 41 (1996) 45-46.

"Performance of Platinum-Group Metal Catalysts for the Selective Reduction of Nitrogen Oxides by Hydrocarbons" A. Obuchi, A. Ohi, M. Nakamura, A. Ogata, K. Mizuno, H. Ohuchi, Appl. Catal. B 2 (1993) 71-80.

"Problems in Preparation of Fe/ZSM-5 Catalysts" W. K. Hall, X. Feng, J. Dumesic, R. Watwe, Catal. Lett. 52 (1998) 13-19.

"Promoted Fe/ZSM-5 Catalysts Prepared by Sublimation: de-NOx Activity and Durability in H₂O-Rich Streams" H.-Y. Chen, W. M. H. Sachtler, Catal. Lett. 50 (1998) 125-130.

"Reaction Intermediates in the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx over Fe/ZSM-5" H.-Y. Chen, T. Voskoboinikov, W. M. H. Sachtler, J. Catal. 186 (1999) 91-99.

"Reduction of Nitrogen Monoxide with Propene over Au/Al₂O₃ Mixed Mechanically with Mn₂O₃"



A. Ueda, M. Haruta, Appl. Catal. B 18 (1998) 115-121.

"Reduction of Nitrogen Monoxide with Propene over Supported Gold Catalysts in the Presence of Excess Oxygen and Moisture" A. Ueda, T. Oshima, M. Haruta, from 1st World Congress on Environmental Catalysis for a Better World and Life, G. Centi et al editors (1995) Pisa, Italy 343-346.

"Reduction of NO over Silver/Alumina Catalysts under Lean Conditions" H.-W. Jen, 214th National Meeting, ACS in Division of Petroleum Chemistry (1997) 833-836 "Regeneration of Commercial TiO₂-V₂O₅-WO₃ SCR Catalysts Used in Bio Fuel Plants" R. Khodayari, C. U. I. Odenbrand, Appl. Catal. 30 (2001) 87-99.

"The Relation between Surface State and Reactivity in the DeNOx Mechanism on Platinum-Based Catalysts" V. Pitchon, A. Fritz, J. Catal. 186 (1999) 64-74.

"Remarkable Enhancement in Durability of Pd/ H-ZSM-5 Zeolite Catalysts for CH₄-SCR" M. Ogura, S. Kage, M. Hayashi, M. Matsukata, E. Kikuchi, Appl. Catal. B 27 (2000) L213-L216.

"Remarkable Oxygen Promotion of the Selective Reduction of Nitric Oxide by Hydrogen over Au/NaY and Au/ZSM-5 Zeolite Catalysts" T. M. Salama, R. Ohnishi, M. Ichikawa, Chem. Commun. (1997) 105-106.

"The Role of Cobalt Oxide Species in the SCR of NO with Propylene on Co-Loaded ZSM-5 Catalysts" Y.-K. Park, S. S. Goryashenko, D. S. Kim, S.-E. Park, in <u>12th International Zeolite</u> <u>Conference</u> Materials Research Society 4 (1999) 1157-1164.

"The Role of the Metal during NOx Reduction by C_3H_6 over Alumina and Silica-Supported Catalysis" G. Bamwenda, A. Obuchi, A. Ogata, J. Oi, S. Kushiyama, K. Mizuno, J. Molec. Catal. A 126 (1997) 151-159.

"Role of Propene in the Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitrogen Monoxide in Copper-Exchanged Zeolites" R. Burch, P. J. Millington, Appl. Catal. B 2 (1993) 101-116.

"SCR of NO over Ir/Al₂O₃ Catalysts. Importance of the Activation Procedure and Influence of the Dispersion" M. Nawdali, H. Praliaud, M. Primet, Topics in Catal. 16/17 (2001) 199-204.

"SCR of NOx with CH₃OH on H/Mordenite: Mechanism and Reaction Intermediates" E. E. Miró, G. Imoberdorf, J. Vassallo, J.O. Petunchi, Appl. Catal. B 22 (1999) 305-318.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide by Ethylene in the Presence of Oxygen over Cu²⁺ Ion-Exchanged Pillared Clays" W. Li, M. Sirilumpen, R. T. Yang, Appl Catal. B 11 (1997) 347-363.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide by Methane over Cerium and Silver Ion-Exchanged ZSM-5 Zeolites" Z. Li, M. Flytzani-Stephanopoulos, Appl. Catal. A 165 (1997) 15-34.

"The Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide by Propylene over Pt/SiO₂" D. K. Captain, K. L. Roberts, M. D. Amiridis, Catal. Today 42 (1998) 93-100.

21 JUNE 2002



"Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide over Cu/ZSM-5 Zeolite by Water-Soluble Oxygen-Containing Organic Compounds" C. N. Montreuil, M. Shelef, Appl. Catal. B 1 (1992) L1-L8.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide with Ethane and Methane on Some Metal Exchanged ZSM-5 Zeolites" R. Burch, S. Scire Appl. Catal. B 3 (1994) 295-318.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitrogen Monoxide by Decane on Copper-Exchange Beta Zeolites" G. Delahay, B. Coq, L. Broussous, Appl. Catal. B 12 (1997) 49-59.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Hydrocarbons on Ga₂O₃/Al₂O₃ Catalysts" K.-I. Shimizu, A. Satsuma, T. Hattori, Appl. Catal. B 16 (1998) 319-326.

"The Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO by Propylene over Pt Supported on Dealuminated Y Zeolite" M.D. Amiridis, K. L. Roberts, C. J. Pereira, Appl. Catal. B 14 (1997) 203-209.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO with C_3H_6 over Rh/Alumina in the Presence and Absence of SO₂ in the Feed" E. A. Efthimiadis, S. C. Christoforou, A. A. Nikolopoulos, I. A. Vasalos, Appl. Catal. B 22 (1999) 91-106.

"The Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO with Methane over Ag-Alumina Catalysts" A. Keshavaraja, X. She, M. Flytzani-Stephanopolous, Appl. Catal. B (2000) L1-L9.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO with Propene over CuMFI Zeolites: Dependence on Si/Al Ratio and Copper Loading" C. Torre-Abreu, M. F. Ribeiro, C. Henriques, F. R. Ribiero, Appl. Catal. B 11 (1997) 383-401.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx by Hydrocarbons on Pt/Al_2O_3 Catalysts at Low Temperatures without the Formation of N_2O " R. Burch, D. Ottery, Appl. Catal. B 9 (1996) L19-L24.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx on Cu-Beta Zeolites" A. Corma, V, Fornés, E. Palomares, Appl. Catal. 11 (1997) 233-242.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx to Nitrogen Over Co-Pt/ZSM-5 Part A. Characterization and Kinetic Studies" S. E. Maisuls, K. Seshan, S. Feast, J. A. Lercher, Appl. Catal. B 30 (2001) 69-81.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with CH_3OH , C_2H_5OH and C_3H_6 in the Presence of O_2 over Ag/Al₂O₃ Catalyst: Role of Surface Nitrate Species" S. Kameoka, Y. Ukisu, T. Miyadera, Phys. Chem. Chemical Physics 2 (2000) 367-372.

"Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with N-Free Reductants" M. Shelef, Chem. Rev. 95 (1995) 209-225.

"Selective Reduction of Nitrogen Monoxide with Propane over Alumina and H/ZSM-5 Zeolite; Effect of Oxygen and Nitrogen Dioxide Intermediate" H. Hamada, Y. Kintaichi, M. Sasaki, T. Ito, M. Tabata, Appl. Catal. 70 (1991) L15-L20.

21 JUNE 2002



"Simultaneous Catalytic Removal of NOx and Diesel Soot Particulates over Ternary AB_2O_4 Spinel-Type Oxides" W. F. Shangguan, Y. Teraoka, S. Kagawa, Appl. Catal. B 8 (1996) 217-227.

"Size and Support Dependency in the Catalysis of Gold" M. Haruta, Catal. Today 36 (1997) 153-166.

"State of the Art and Future Potential for DeNOx Catalyst Systems for Light- and Heavy-duty Diesel Engines" R. A. Searles from AECC – Automobile Emissions Control by Catalyst, (1997) Brussels, Belgium 163-168.

"Structure and Activity of Cerium-Promoted Ag/ZSM-5 for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of Nitric Oxide with Methane" Z. Li, M. Flytzani-Stephanopoulos, in <u>12th International Zeolite</u> <u>Conference</u> Materials Research Society 4 (1999) 2787-2794.

"Structure Sensitivity of NO Reduction over Iridium Catalysts in HC-SCR" C. Wögerbauer, M. Maciejewski, A. Baiker, J. Catal. 205 (2002) 157-167.

"The Sulfur and Water Resistance of Modified Washcoated Zeolite-Exchanged Monolith Catalysts for SCR of NOx with Propane" Z. R. Ismagilov, R. A. Shkrabina, L. T. Tsykoza, V. A. Sazonov, S. A. Yashnik, V. V. Kuznetsov, N. V. Shikina, H. J. Veringa, Topics in Catal. 16/17 (2001) 307-310.

"Supported CuO + Ag/Partially Stabilized Zirconia Catalysts for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx under Lean Burn Conditions" V. A. Sadykov, R. V. Bunina, G. M. Alikina, A. S. Ivanova, T. G. Kuznetsova, S. A. Beloshapkin, V. A. Matyshak, G. A. Konin, A. Ya. Rozovskii, V. F. Tretyakov, T. N. Burdeynaya, M. N. Davydova, J. R. H. Ross, J. P. Breen, J. Catal. 200 (2001) 131-139.

"Swedish Academic Suggests Fuel as an SCR deNOx Reductant" Automotive Environment Analysis (2001) 9-10.

"Toyota Has Won Basic Patents in Ten Countries for a Nitrous Oxide Occlusion Reduction Catalyst" from *EU Motor Business Japan* 2nd Quarter (1998) p. 128.

"Vehicle Study on the Impact of Diesel Fuel Sulfur Content on the Performance of deNOx Catalysts on Particle Size and Number" G. Lepperhoff, P. Stommel, B. Lüers, R. Searles, SAE 2000-01-1877.

"Zeolite Based Materials for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with Hydrocarbons" Y. Traa, B. Burger, J. Weitkamp, Micro. and Meso. Materials 30 (1999) 3-41.

1.2 Nitrogen Containing Reductant Based SCR References:

"Chemical and Mechanistic Aspects of the Selective Reduction of NOx by Ammonia over Oxide Catalysts: A Review" G. Busca, L. Lietti, G. Ramis, F. Berti, Appl. Catal. B 18 (1998) 1-36.

"Deactivation by SO₂ of MnO_x/Al₂O₃ Catalysts Used for the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NO



with NH₃ at Low Temperatures" W. S. Kijlstra, M. Biervliet, E. K. Poels, A. Bliek, Appl. Catal. B 16 (1998) 327-337.

"Development of Low NOx Type 2-Stroke Diesel Generating Plant with New Selective Catalytic Reduction System" Y. Oda, O. Motomura, K. Maeda, J. Kondo, from <u>CIMAC Congress</u> (1998) Copenhagen 1147-1156,

"Integration of Exhaust Gas Recirculation, Selective Catalytic Reduction, Diesel Particulate Filters and Fuel-Borne Catalyst for NOx/PM Reduction" M. Khair, J. Lemaire, S. Fischer, SAE 2000-01-1933.

"Investigation into NOx Aftertreatment with Urea SCR for Light-Duty Diesel Vehicles" P. G. Blakeman, G. R. Chandler, G. A. John, A. J. J. Wilkins, SAE 2001-01-3624.

"Low Temperature Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx by Metal Oxides Supported on Active Carbon Fibers" M. Yoshikawa, A. Yasutake, I. Mochida, Appl. Catal. A 173 (1998) 239-245.

"Optimum deNOx Performance Using Inferential Feedforward Reductant Flow Control" H. C. Krijnsen, J. C. M. van Leeuwen, R. Bakker, H. P. A. Calis, C. M. van den Bleek, in <u>European</u> <u>Symposium on Computer Aided Process Engineering</u> S. Pierucci (Eds) Elsevier Science (2000) 883-888.

"Reactivity of Nitrogen Containing Organic Intermediates in the Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx with Organic Compounds" A Model Study with *tert*-Butyl Substituted Nitrogen Compounds" A. Obuchi, C. Wögerbauer, R. Köppel, A. Baiker, Appl. Catal. B 19 (1998) 9-22.

"Reducing NOx in Diesel Exhausts by SCR Technique: Experiments and Simulations" S. L. Andersson, P. L. T. Gabrielsson, C. U. I. Odenbrand, Envir. and Energy Engin. 40 (1994) 1911-1919.

"SCR Economics for Diesel Engines" R. Krishnan, Diesel & Gas Turbine Worldwide (July-Aug 2001) 62-63.

"SCR Performance on a Hydrogen Reformer Furnace" R. G. Kunz, J. Air & Waste Management Assoc. 48 (1998) 26-34.

1.3 Non-Thermal Plasma Based Catalysts References:

"Application of Non-Thermal Plasma Assisted Catalyst Technology for Diesel Emission Reduction" D. Herling, M. Smith, S. Baskaran, J. Kupe, SAE 2000-01-3088.

"Characterization of Acid Sites in Ion-Exchanged and Solid State-Exchanged Zeolites" A. C. Ebeling, A. G. Panov, D. E. McCready, M. L. Balmer, SAE 2001-01-3571.

"Diesel Emission Control in Review" T. V. Johnson, SAE 2001-01-0184.

"Diesel Exhaust Treatment – New Approaches to Ultra Low Emission Diesel Vehicles" H. Lüders, P. Stommel, S. Geckler, SAE 1999-01-0108.



"Experimental and Theoretical Investigation of Removal of NOx from Diesel-Type Engine Exhaust Using Dielectric Barrier Discharges" R. Wegst, M. Neiger, H. Russ, S. Liu, SAE 1999-01-3686.

"Hydrocarbon Reactivity in a Plasma-Catalyst System: Thermal Versus Plasma-Assisted Lean NOx Reduction" S. J. Schmieg, B. K. Cho, S. H. Oh, SAE 2001-01-3565.

"Lean-NOx and Plasma Catalysis over γ -Alumina for Heavy Duty Diesel Applications" P. W. Park, J. E. Rockwood, C. L. Boyer, C. L. Aardahl, C. F. Habeger, K. G. Rappé, D. N. Tran, SAE 2001-01-3569.

"Mechanistic Studies of the Catalytic Chemistry of NOx in Laboratory Plasma-Catalyst Reactors" G. B. Fisher, C. L. DiMaggio, A. Yezerets, M. C. Kung, H. H. Kung, S. Baskaran, J. G. Frye, M. R. Smith, D. Herling, W. J. LeBarge, J. Kupe, SAE 2000-01-2965.

"Non-Thermal Plasma Assisted Catalytic NOx Remediation from a Lean Model Exhaust" O. Gorce, H. Jurado, C. Thomas, G. Djéga-Mariadassou, A. Khacef, J. M. Cormier, J. M. Pouvesle, G. Blanchard, S. Calvo, Y. Lendresse, SAE 2001-01-3508.

"Oxidation of Carbon Soot Layer Using Pulsed Discharged Plasma" Y. Matsui, M. Hashimoto, A. Sakaguchi, K. Takashima, A. Mizuno, SAE 2001-01-3511.

"Plasma-Assisted Catalytic Reduction of NOx" B. M. Penetrante, R. M. Brusasco, B. T. Merritt, W. J. Pitz, G. E. Vogtin, M. C. Kung, H. H. Kung, C. Z. Wan, K. E. Voss, SAE 982508.

"Plasma-Catalyst for Diesel Exhaust Treatment: Current State of the Art" J. Hoard, SAE 2001-01-0185.

"Plasma-Enhanced Catalytic Reduction of NOx in Simulated Lean Exhaust" C. L. Aardahl, C. F. Habeger, M. L. Balmer, K. G. Rappe, D. N. Tran, M. Avila, P. W. Park, K. A. Koshkarian, A. Chanda, SAE 2000-01-2961.

"Plasma Enhance Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx in Diesel Exhaust:Kinetics of NOx-Removal and Byproduct Formation" T. Hammer, T. Kishimoto, H. Miessner, R. Rudolph, SAE 1999-01-3632.

"Plasma Enhance Selective Catalytic Reduction of NOx in Diesel Exhaust: Test Bench Measurements" T. Hammer, S. Bröer, SAE 1999-01-3633.

"Plasma-Facilitated SCR of NOx in Heavy-Duty Diesel Exhaust" K. G. Rappé, C. L. Aardahl, C. F. Habeger, D. N. Tran, M. A. Delgado, L.-Q. Wang, P. W. Park, M. L. Balmer, SAE 2001-01-3570.

"Selective Reduction of NOx in Oxygen Rich Environments with Plasma-Assisted Catalysis: The Role of Plasma and Reactive Intermediate" A. G. Panov, R. G. Tonkyn, M. L. Balmer, C. H. F. Peden, A. Malkin, J. W. Hoard, SAE 2001-01-3513.

"Sulfur Tolerance of Selective Partial Oxidation of NO to NO₂ in a Plasma" B. M. Penetrante, R.



M. Brusasco, B. T. Merritt, G. E. Vogtin, SAE 1999-01-3687.

2 DATABASES SEARCHED

2.1. Ricardo Powerlink Database

Ricardo's own database of around 70,000 references to a wide variety of public domain material, dated from 1994-2002. Material includes SAE papers, conference papers, manufacturers' literature, journal articles, reference books, etc. Topics covered include all aspects of powertrain and vehicle systems technologies.

2.2. Compendex

Produced by Engineering Information, Inc., provides coverage of the world's significant engineering and technological literature. Contains technical reports, books, conference papers etc. Sources include 4,500 journals, publications of engineering societies, reports and monographs. Compendex contains a total of more than 2 million references.

2.3. INSPEC

Corresponds to the three print publications Physics Abstracts, Electrical and Electronic Abstracts, and Computer and Control Abstracts. Source material includes 4100 serials and journals, conference proceedings, books, reports and dissertations. Updated twice a month, the Database includes around 3,750,000 references.

2.4. NTIS (National Technical Information Service)

Summaries of US Government-sponsored research, development and engineering, plus analyses prepared by Federal agencies or their contractors. Agencies covered include NASA, DOD, DOT etc. The Database also provides access to government-sponsored research outside the US, in countries such as the UK, Japan, France and Germany. Around 2 million records, currently.

2.5. CAB Abstracts

Online version of Chemical Abstracts. Covers all aspects of chemistry, including analytical and physical, applied, organic and inorganic, and chemical engineering. Contains over 11 million references, updated biweekly.

2.6. CHEMWEB – Catalysis Forum

Web-based service focusing on catalysis issues. Databases available from this service include Beilstein Abstracts, Catalysis Patents, Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology Abstracts.



GRAPHS, FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1: Simulated Thermal Trace versus Engine to Mass Ratio







Figure 2: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for ZSM-5 Supported Catalysts







Page 40 of 53



Figure 3: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Other Zeolite Supported Catalysts

See Table 2 for data points.



Figure 4: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Catalysts





Figure 4A: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Pt Catalysts

Figure 4B: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Alumina Supported Ag Catalysts







Figure 5: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Mixed-Metal Oxide Supported Catalysts

See Table 4 for data



Figure 6: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature for Supported Platinum Catalysts







See Table 6 for data.



Figure 8: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature with Methane as the Reductant





Figure 9: Peak NOx Conversion versus Temperature with Oxygenated Reductants

See Table 8 for data.



Support	ZSM-5											
metal	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	02 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
Cu	102	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	250	40	9	А	
Co	90	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	350	42	9	A	
н	100	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	400	39	9	A	
Ag	90	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	450-600	43	9	A	
Zn	96	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	600	42	9	A	
Ga	120	CH4	1000	1610	2.5	no	no	500	32	30	В	effected by 2% H2O vapor
Co	NA	CH4	1000	1610	2.5	no	no	440	32	30	В	small effect of 2% H2O vapor
Pt	0.9wt%	C2H4	1200	230	7.0	no	no	500	80	859	С	60% max conv at 450C with NO2
Au	5.0wt%	H2	15000	1400	0.2	no	no	250	68	8	G	NOT LEAN
Ce	15	C3H6	500	1000	2.0	no	no	350	50	10		0.5g Ce/MFI only
Ce	16	C3H6	500	1000	2.0	no	no	300	73	10		50/50 mix with Ce2O3
Ce	17	C3H6	500	1000	2.0	no	no	250	89	10		50/50 mix with Min2O3
Cu	0.7%1%		700	1000	14.0	yes	no	425	27	17	J	~700ppm C3H6 added, sullur free dieser
Cu	100	1-C8H18	750	1000	6.7	2%	110	500	65	30	ĸ	shited to higher temps for large xtls
Dt Cu	1 044%	1-Con10	1500	1000	5.0	276	110	200.260	80	12		shited to higher temps tor large xtis
Cu	80	C10H22	300	1000	9.0	110	 	425	72	70	<u> </u>	convat 223C
Ad	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	600	28	7.5	0	max conversion ~80% exchange
Ce	21	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	600	18	7.5	Q	good for NO exidation
Ag Ce	67.54	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	500	80	7.5	0	8.3% H2O inhibits reaction
Ga	115	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	500	82	6	R	2.5%H2O strongly inhibits catalysis
Ga	115	C3H6	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	550	70	12	R	C3H8 as slightly more active
Fe	300	i-C4H10	2000	2000	3.0	10%	no	350	75	42	S	max exchange 1/1 Fe/AI = 300%EL
La Fe	0.9 300	i-C4H10	2000	2000	3.0	10%	no	375	83	42	S	larger temp window than Fe only
Cu	40	C3H6	800	800	4.0	no	no	500	50	15	т	1.4wt% Cu. Si/Al 11
Cu	280	C3H6	800	800	4.0	no	no	350	49	15	т	1.4wt% Cu. Si/Al 100
Cu	194	C3H8	470	750	2.4	no	no	350	68	20	U	Si/AI 17
Cu	4.1wt%	C2H4	1000	1000	2.0	no	no	300	42	15	V	
Cu	5.4wt%	C3	400	1850	1.0	no	no	450	25	40	AA	3:1 C3H6:C3H8
Cu	5.4wt%	C3	400	1850	1.0	10%	20	400	19	40	AA	3:1 C3H6:C3H8
Pd	0.4wt%	CH4	2000	1000	10.0	10%	no	500	50-5	30	CC	conversion decreases from 50% to 5%
Pd Co	0.4 3.3	CH4	2000	1000	10.0	10%	no	500	63	30	CC	
Cu	102	n-C6H14	1000	1000	6.7	2%	no	350-450	80	30	DD	no xtl size effect
Cu	102	2,2 DMB	1000	1000	6.7	2%	no	350	71	30	DD	large xtl has much lower conversion
Co	106	CH4	4000	4000	4.0	no	no	500	30	60	GG	
Pt	1000	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	200	78	20		3:1 N2O:N2 yield
Ag	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	650	22	7.5	JJ	
Ce	24 79		5000	5000	2.5	no	no	650	18	7.5	- 33	reached may with Ag EL - 90
Le Ag	24 78		1200	1500	2.5	110	110	500	70	7.5		reached max with Ag EL ~ 80
	60	C3H6	1200	1500	3.0	110	110	450	- 20	30		
CoOx	5wt%	C3H6	1200	1500	3.0	no	no	250	34	30	KK	
In	4wt%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	400	48	30	мм	with NO2 in feed conversion similar to
In	1wt%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	-	-	30	ММ	
In Ir	4% 1%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	450	87	30	MM	
Co	1.7wt%	C2H6	1000	1000	2.5	no	no	450	51	60	NN	
Rh	1.7wt%	C2H6	1000	1000	2.5	no	no	400	72	60	NN	deactivates 50% with TOS another 50% with 2% H2O
Pt	1.0wt%	C2H6	1000	1000	2.5	no	no	400	1	60	NN	
Cu	3.0wt%	C2H6	1000	1000	2.5	no	no	400	18	60	NN	
Fe	183	iC4H10	2000	2000	3	20	150	500	100	42	QQ	Cu/ZSM-5 53% initial dry act. goes to 0
P+	7	C2U4	500	500	10	10	- no	225	30	72	66	2.1 N2O·N2 ratio
	07		1000	1000	2	8.6	10	220	50	72	33	3:2 N2O:N2 ratio Only slight H2O effect
- F (97	6204	1000	1000	-	0.0		223	50	12	- · ·	3:2 N2O:N2 ratio SO2 effect: broader N2
Pt	97	C2H4	1000	1000	2	no	300	250	52	72	TT	conversion peak
Co		CH4	1015	820	2.5	2	no	500	33	30	UU	significant deactivation w/ H2O below 500C
Mn		CH4	1015	820	2.5	2	no	500	36	30	UU	deactivation w/ H2O below 500C
Ni		CH4	1015	820	2.5	2	no	450	19	30	UU	slight H2O inhibition
н		CH4	1015	820	2.5	2	no	-	-	15	UU	

Table 1: NOx Conversion on ZSM-5 Supported Catalysts

21 JUNE 2002

Page 45 of 53



Support other zeolites %Conv GHSV metal % EL HC type HC conc NO O2 % H20 SOx Tmax Ref zeolite Other comments (x 1000/h) max 5.0wt% H2 15000 1400 0.2 250 100 8 G NOT LEAN NaY Au no no Pt 1.0wt% C3H6 1500 1000 5.0 200 95 12 conv at 200C USY no L no C3H6 2000 conversion affected by pretreatment lr 1wt% 1000 10 450 42 25 Ν no no N2 formation only with C3H6 + CO NaY CO 500 C10H22 300 1000 9.0 390 32 70 0 H/Beta Cu 198 no no C10H22 1000 70 0 Cu 113 300 9.0 no no 400 54 Na/Beta Cu 60 C3H6 800 800 4.0 350 42 0.15 Ρ Si/AI = 21 from H form MOR no no Cu C3H6 800 800 4.0 350 38 0.15 Ρ Si/AI = 21 from Na form MOR 60 no no 800 4.0 Ρ Si/AI = 6 from Na form. H form slightly less Cu 20 C3H6 800 no no 350 50 0.15 MOR 6.7 500 Со 34 CH4 1000 1000 no no 30 8 Х CH4 combustion accelerated with NO MOR Pt 1.2wt% C3 400 1850 1.0 300 24 40 AA 3:1 C3H6:C3H8 high N2O yield USY no no Pt 1.2wt% C3 400 1850 1.0 10% 20 300 23 40 AA 3:1 C3H6:C3H8 high N2O yield USY Pt 1wt% C3H6 1500 1000 10 200 92 20 2:1 N2O:N2 yield. C3H8 nonselective USY no no Со 1.38wt% CH4 1000 1000 2.0 2% 500 20 LL FER no CH4 450 32 LL FER 0.52wt% 1000 1000 2.0 2% In no Pt Co CH4 1000 1000 2.0 2% 550 70 LL FER 0.5 1.8 no requires prereduction step Pt In 0.5 0.5 CH4 1000 1000 2.0 2% 500 77 LL FER no Со CH4 820 2.5 450 25 30 UU deactivation w/ H2O below 500C MOR 1015 2 no 12 ~ with NO or NO2; C2>C3>C4 aldehydes Ва **CH3CHO** 500 200 8 2 225 80 XX USY no 200 240 12 ХХ USY Na C8H18 100 8 2 no 70

Table 2: NOx Conversion on Zeolite (non ZSM-5) Supported Catalysts



Support	AI2O3											
metal	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	02 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
-	-	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	600	22	9	A	
-	-	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	450	68	10	F	all listed as conversion to N2
-	-	СНЗОН	3000	500	5.0	no	no	300	99	15	W	significant DME formation at low temp
-	-	СНЗОН	1500	1000	10	no	no	425	62	10	EE	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
-	-	C2H5OH	900	1000	10	no	no	425	71	10	EE	
-	-	C3H6	1000	1000	10	no	no	500	52	10	EE	
-	-	C3H8	1000	500	5.0	no	no	550	76	15	W	not sulfur tolerant see next entry
-	-	CH3CHO	500	200	8	2	no	400	90	12	XX	NO2 (90) much higher than NO (50)
Aa	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	86	10	F	
Aq	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	80ppm	475	85	36	H	without SO2 ~100% conv. 300-500C
Aq	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	30ppm	475	70	90	н	slight deactivation aged 20h w/high SO2
Aq	2wt%	C3	1000	500	6.0	12%	no	500	85	60	Y	2:1 C3H8:C3H6
Ag	2wt%	C8H17OH	375	500	6.0	12%	no	350	82	60	Ŷ	$octanol \sim O$ -containing reductants
Aq	2wt%	C8H18	375	500	6.0	12%	no	500	86	60	Ý	octane ~ iC8 ~1C8ene
, , , ,		000	0.0	000	0.0	.270		000		00	-	dodecane ~ > MK1 diesel, significant
Ag	2wt%	C12H26	500	500	6.0	12%	no	250-500	60+	60	Y	conversion observed ($=>60\%$) with engines
Αq	2\u/t%	CH4	6000	1000	10	2%	no	500	40	2	BB	
Ag	2111/0	СЗНЯ	2000	1000	10	2%	no	500	40	15	BB	narrow conversion window
Ag	2.001/0	D-C4H10	1500	1000	10	2%	no	500	90	15	BB	wide converion window
Ag	2.001/0	n C9U19	650	1000	10	2%	110	300.450	99	15		wide converien window
Ag	2101/0	n C9U19	650	1000	10	2%	110	350 400	80	15		wide converien window
Ag	2101/0		1500	1000	10	2 /0	110	350-400	33	10		
Ag	2 WL /0	CHISOH	1300	1000	10	110	110	230	24	10		
Ag	2001/0		900	1000	10	10	110	375	90	10		
Ag	2WL%		870	1000	10	10	10	475	10	10		
Ir	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	350	15	5	J	conversion affected by protreatment
Ir	1wt%	CSHO	2000	1000	10	no	no	500	36	25	N	No formation and with Collig LCO
0-	07+0/	00	500	1000	07			550	00	6		N2 formation only with C3H6 + CO
Ga	27Wt%	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	550	90	6	R	supported Ga2O3 on AI2O3
Ga	40		1000	1000	6.7	no	110	550	75	6	ĸ	
Ga	27Wt%	C3H6	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	450-550	99	12	ĸ	C3H8 slightly less active
Pa	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	25	5	J	
Pt	1Wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	250	76	20		3:1 N2O:N2 yield
Pt	0.3wt%	n-C8H18	1000	500	5.0	no	no	235	38	60	D	NO convizero order above Supprin HC
	ļ											High N2 selectivity
Pt	1.0wt%	C3H6	1000	500	5.0	no	no	255	60	60	E	High N2O selectivity. No conv with C3H8
	1 0 10/	00110	070	005				050	50			
Pt	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	52	5	J	1/3 N2, 2/3 N2O
Pt/Rh	3:1	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	60	5	J	N2 level ?
Pt/Rn	1:1	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	35	5	J	double the PGM loading (2wt%)
Rn	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	325	50	5	J	mostly N2 formed
Ru	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	325	55	5	J	
Rh	1wt%	CH4	6700	2000	5.0	no	no	300-500	15	12	M	83% N2 selectivity
504		C3H8	1000	500	5.0	no	no	> 600	20	15	VV	max conversion above 600
SO4		СНЗОН	3000	500	5.0	no	no	325	95	15	w	significant DME formation at low temp
all		CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	-	-		LL	all AI2O3 samples inhibited with H2O
Au	0.17wt%	C3H6	1000	1000	5.0	10%	no	425	88	20	00	
Au Mn2O3	0.17wt%	C3H6	1000	1000	5.0	10%	no	350-450	95	20	00	mechanical mixture Au/Al2O3 with Mn2O3
												@ 19:1. 90% conversion @ 120K GHSV
Mn2O3	19:1	C3H6	1000	1000	5.0	10%	no	375-500	40	20	00	mechanical mixture Al2O3 with Mn2O3
Ga	30wt%	C3H6	900	900	10	9 1%	90	450	76	75	RR	sublimation > co precip > incipient wet
	1 30	00110	000	000		5.170		400		, , ,		Ga2O3 non reactive

Table 3: NOx Conversion on Alumina Supported Catalysts

21 JUNE 2002



Support	metal	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	O2 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
													High N2O selectivity. No conv with
SiO2	Pt	1.0wt%	C3H6	1000	500	5.0	no	no	220	70	60	E	C3H8
TiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	375	18	10	F	Ag free sample no NOx conversion
SiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	4	10	F	
substrate	Pt	0.2wt%	diesel	700	700	14.0	yes	50	225	37	17	J	~700ppm C3H6 added
substrate	Pt/Rh	4:1	diesel	700	700	14.0	yes	50	225	50	17	J	~700ppm C3H6 added
carbon	Pt	1 04/1%	СЗН6	1500	1000	5.0	no	no	400-500	85	12		conv at 200C support consumed during
carbon	1.0	1.00070	00110	1000	1000	5.0		110	400-500	00	12	E	reaction
													MnLaSrCeOx 5/1/1/1 composition
MMO			CH4	6700	2000	5.0	yes	no	300	32	12	M	4% H2O shifts max conv by 50C
													>90% N2 selectivity
laponite	Cu	2.6wt%	C2H4	1000	1000	2.0	no	no	550	90	15	V	Al2O3 pillared laponite
laponite	Cu	2 6wt%	C2H4	1000	1000	20	5%	500	500	65	15	V	550C not measured.
aporneo	04	2.0117.0	02			2.0	0,0	000			.0	•	n/n,H2O/n,H2O/SO2 81,78,65
bentonite	Cu	3.5wt%	C2H4	1000	1000	2.0	no	no	300	55	15	V	TiO2 pillard bentonite
La2O3 -	Pt	1wt%	C3	330	500	6.0	12%	no	200	65	60	Z	2:1 C3H8:C3H6, 350ppm CO
ZrO2							/ *						,,,
ZrO2 CaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	375	42	11.2	FF	Ag/Al2O3 max conv at 450C 30%
ZrO2 SrO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	375	52	11.2	FF	broad temp window
ZrO2 BaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	425	67	11.2	FF	volcano shape conv
ZrO2 CaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	250	32	18	FF	
ZrO2 SrO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	275	34	18	FF	
ZrO2 BaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	300-400	41	18	FF	broad temp window
Y2O3			CH4	4000	4000	4.0	no	no	650	32	60	GG	xtl size 17 nm
ZrO2	-		C3H6	948	1166	2.23	no	no	450-500	40	15	НН	mixed metal oxide (co ppt)
SnO2/ZrO2		45/55	C3H6	948	1166	2.23	no	no	350	76	15	HH	mixed metal oxide (co ppt)
SnO	-		C3H6	948	1166	2.23	no	no	350	50	15	HH	mixed metal oxide (co ppt)
SiO2	Pt	1wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	240	40	20	11	2:1 N2O:N2 yield

Table 4: NOx Conversion on Mixed-Metal Oxide Supported Catalysts

Т

г



Support	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	O2 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
MFI	0.9wt%	C2H4	1200	230	7.0	no	no	500	80	859	С	60% max conv at 450C with NO2
AI2O3	0.3wt%	n-C8H18	1000	500	5.0	no	no	235	38	60	р	NO conv zero order above 500ppm HC
7	0.01170	ii corric	1000	000	0.0	110	110	200		00	5	High N2 selectivity
SiO2	1.0wt%	C3H6	1000	500	5.0	no	no	220	70	60	E	High N2O selectivity. No conv with C3H8
AI2O3	1 0wt%	C3H6	1000	500	5.0	no	no	255	60	60	F	High N2O selectivity. No conv with C3H8
/		00110			0.0			200			-	Pt disp 41%
AI2O3	1.0wt%	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	52	5	J	1/3 N2, 2/3 N2O
AI2O3	3:1	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	60	5	J	N2 level ? - Pt with Rh
												double the PGM loading (2wt%) -
AI2O3	1:1	C3H6	870	995	5.0	no	no	250	35	5	J	Pt with Rh
substrate	0.2wt%	diesel	700	700	14.0	yes	50	225	37	17	J	~700ppm C3H6 added
substrate	4:1	diesel	700	700	14.0	yes	50	225	50	17	J	~700ppm C3H6 added - Pt with Rh
AI2O3	1.0wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	5.0	no	no	250	60	12	L	all have low N2 selectivity <30%
MFI	1.0wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	5.0	no	no	200-260	80	12	L	conv at 225C
USY	1.0wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	5.0	no	no	200	95	12	L	conv at 200C
carbon	1 0wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	5.0	no	no	400-500	85	12	I	conv at 200C support consumed during
carbon	1.000170	00110	1000	1000	0.0	no	no	400-000	00	12	-	reaction
La2O3 -	1wt%	C3s	330	500	6.0	12%	no	200	65	60	7	2:1 C3H8:C3H6_350ppm CO
ZrO2	100070	003	000	000	0.0	1270	no	200	00	00	2	
USY	1.2wt%	C3s	400	1850	1.0	no	no	300	24	40	AA	3:1 C3H6:C3H8 high N2O yield
USY	1.2wt%	C3s	400	1850	1.0	10%	20	300	23	40	AA	3:1 C3H6:C3H8 high N2O yield
USY	1wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	200	92	20	11	2:1 N2O:N2 yield. C3H8 nonselective
MFI	1wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	200	78	20		3:1 N2O:N2 yield
AI2O3	1wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	250	76	20	II	3:1 N2O:N2 yield
SiO2	1wt%	C3H6	1500	1000	10	no	no	240	40	20		2:1 N2O:N2 yield
FER	0.5 1.8	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	550	70		LL	requires prereduction step - Pt with Co
FER	0.5 0.5	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	500	77		LL	Pt with In

Table 5: NOx Conversion on Supported Platinum Catalysts -



01101

Support	metal	% EI	HC type	HC conc	NO	02 %	H20) SOx	Ox Tmax	%Conv	GHSV	Rof	Other comments
Support	metai	70 EE	Потурс		NO	02 /0	1120	00	Шах	max	(x 1000/h)	T CI	Other comments
MFI	Ag	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	600	28	7.5	Q	max conversion ~80% exchange
MFI	Ag Ce	67 54	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	500	80	7.5	Q	8.3% H2O inhibits reaction
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	CH4	6000	1000	10	2%	no	500	40	2	BB	
MFI	Ag	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	650	22	7.5	JJ	
MFI	Ce Ag	24 78	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	500	70	7.5	JJ	reached max with Ag EL ~ 80
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	CH3OH	1500	1000	10	no	no	250	24	10	EE	
MFI	Ag	90	C2H4	250	1000	2.0	no	no	450-600	43	9	Α	
AI2O3	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	86	10	F	
TiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	375	18	10	F	Ag free sample no NOx conversion
SiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	4	10	F	
AI2O3	Ag	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	80ppm	475	85	36	Н	without SO2 ~100% conv. 300-500C
AI2O3	Ag	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	30ppm	475	70	90	Н	slight deactivation aged 20h w/high SO2
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C2H5OH	900	1000	10	no	no	375	90	10	EE	
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C3H8	2000	1000	10	2%	no	500	93	15	BB	narrow conversion window
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C3	1000	500	6.0	12%	no	500	85	60	Y	2:1 C3H8:C3H6
ZrO2 CaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	250	32	18	FF	
ZrO2 SrO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	275	34	18	FF	
ZrO2 BaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C3H6	2000	2000	2.5	no	no	300-400	41	18	FF	broad temp window
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C3H6	1000	1000	10	no	no	475	70	10	EE	
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	n-C4H10	1500	1000	10	2%	no	500	99	15	BB	wide converion window
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	n-C6H14	650	1000	10	2%	no	300-450	80	15	BB	wide converion window
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C8H17OH	375	500	6.0	12%	no	350	82	60	Y	octanol ~ O-containing reductants
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C8H18	375	500	6.0	12%	no	500	86	60	Y	octane ~ iC8 ~1C8ene
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	n-C8H18	650	1000	10	2%	no	350-400	99	15	BB	wide converion window
ZrO2 CaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	375	42	11.2	FF	Ag/Al2O3 max conv at 450C 30%
ZrO2 SrO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	375	52	11.2	FF	broad temp window
ZrO2 BaO	Ag CuO	2% 5%	C10H22	500	1500	20.0	no	no	425	67	11.2	FF	volcano shape conv
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C12H26	500	500	6.0	12%	no	250-500	60+	60	Y	dodecane ~ > MK1 diesel. significant

Table 6: NOx Conversion on Supported Silver Catalysts



Support	metal	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	O2 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
Al2O3	Rh	1wt%	CH4	6700	2000	5.0	no	no	300-500	15	12	М	83% N2 selectivity
													MnLaSrCeOx 5/1/1/1 composition
MMO			CH4	6700	2000	5.0	yes	no	300	32	12	М	4% H2O shifts max conv by 50C
													>90% N2 selectivity
MFI	Ag	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	600	28	7.5	Q	max conversion ~80% exchange
MFI	Ce	21	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	600	18	7.5	Q	good for NO oxidation
MFI	Ag Ce	67 54	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	500	80	7.5	Q	8.3% H2O inhibits reaction
Al2O3	Ga	27wt%	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	550	90	6	R	supported Ga2O3 on Al2O3
Al2O3	Ga	48	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	550	75	6	R	mixed metal oxide (co ppt)
MFI	Ga	115	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	500	82	6	R	2.5%H2O strongly inhibits catalysis
MOR	Co	34	CH4	1000	1000	6.7	no	no	500	30	8	Х	CH4 combustion accelerated with NO
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	CH4	6000	1000	10	2%	no	500	40	2	BB	
MFI	Pd	0.4wt%	CH4	2000	1000	10.0	10%	no	500	50-5	30	CC	conversion decreases from 50% to 5%
MFI	Pd Co	0.4 3.3	CH4	2000	1000	10.0	10%	no	500	63	30	CC	
Y2O3			CH4	4000	4000	4.0	no	no	650	32	60	GG	xtl size 17 nm
MFI	Со	106	CH4	4000	4000	4.0	no	no	500	30	60	GG	
MFI	Ag	77	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	650	22	7.5	JJ	
MFI	Ce	21	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	650	18	7.5	JJ	
MFI	Ce Ag	24 78	CH4	5000	5000	2.5	no	no	500	70	7.5	JJ	reached max with Ag EL ~ 80
FER	Co	1.38wt%	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	500	20		LL	
FER	In	0.52wt%	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	450	32		LL	
FER	Pt Co	0.5 1.8	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	550	70		LL	requires prereduction step
FER	Pt In	0.5 0.5	CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	500	77		LL	
Al2O3	all		CH4	1000	1000	2.0	2%	no	-	-		LL	all Al2O3 samples inhibited with H2O
MEL	In	4w/t%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	400	48	30	ММ	with NO2 in feed conversion similar to
			0.14		1000	.0				10			In/Ir/MFI
MFI	lr	1wt%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	-	-	30	MM	
MFI	ln Ir	4% 1%	CH4	1000	1000	10	no	no	450	87	30	MM	

Table 7: NOx Conversion with Methane as the Reductant



Support	metal	% EL	HC type	HC conc	NO	O2 %	H20	SOx	Tmax	%Conv max	GHSV (x 1000/h)	Ref	Other comments
AI2O3	-		C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	450	68	10	F	all listed as conversion to N2
Al2O3	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	86	10	F	
TiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	375	18	10	F	Ag free sample no NOx conversion
SiO2	Ag	2.0wt%	C2H5OH	884	1094	10.0	no	no	350	4	10	F	
AI2O3	Ag	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	80ppm	475	85	36	Н	without SO2 ~100% conv. 300-500C
Al2O3	Ag	4.6wt%	C2H5OH	1565	800	10.0	10%	30ppm	475	70	90	Н	slight deactivation aged 20h w/high SO2
Al2O3	-		CH3OH	3000	500	5.0	no	no	300	99	15	W	significant DME formation at low temp
AI2O3	SO4		CH3OH	3000	500	5.0	no	no	325	95	15	W	significant DME formation at low temp
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C8H17OH	375	500	6.0	12%	no	350	82	60	Y	octanol ~ O-containing reductants
Al2O3	Ag	2wt%	CH3OH	1500	1000	10	no	no	250	24	10	EE	
AI2O3	Ag	2wt%	C2H5OH	900	1000	10	no	no	375	90	10	EE	
AI2O3			CH3CHO	500	200	8	2	no	400	90	12	XX	NO2 (90) much higher than NO (50)
USY	Ba		CH3CHO	500	200	8	2	no	225	80	12	XX	~ with NO or NO2; C2>C3>C4 aldehydes

Table 8: NOx Conversion with Oxygenated Reductants



Table 9: References for the Data Points

A	Appl Catal 70 (1991) L1-L5
В	J Catal 145 (1994) 1-9
С	J Catal 178 (1998) 395-407
D	J Catal 176 (1998) 204-214
E	Catal Lett 43 (1997) 19-23
F	Catal Lett 51 (1998) 11-14
G	Chem Commun (1997) 105-106
Н	Catal Lett 51 (1998) 5-9
1	Catal Lett 29 (1994) 1-6
J	Appl Catal B 2 (1993) 71-80
К	Appl Catal B 30 (2001) 25-33
L	Appl Catal B 30 (2001) 399-408
М	Topics in Catal 16/17 (2001) 231-235
Ν	Topics in Catal 16/17 (2001) 199-204
0	Appl Catal B 12 (1997) 49-59
Ρ	Appl Catal B 13 (1997) 251-264
Q	Appl Catal A 165 (1997) 15-34
R	Appl Catal B 16 (1998) 319-326
S	Catal Lett 50 (1998) 125-130
Т	Appl Catal B 11 (1997) 383-401
U	Appl Catal B 11 (1997) 233-242
V	Appl Catal B 11 (1997) 347-363
W	Appl Catal B 17 (1998) 115-129
Х	Appl Catal B 17 (1998) 107-113
Y	SAE 2000-01-2813
Z	CAPoC IV 243-253
AA	Appl Catal B 14 (1997) 203-209
BB	Appl Catal B 25 (2000) 239-247
CC	Appl Catal B 27 (2000) L213-L216
DD	Appl Catal A 207 (2001) 315-321
EE	Phys Chem Chemical Physics 2 (2000) 367-372
FF	J Catal 200 (2001) 131-139
GG	J Catal 192 (2000) 54-63
HH	Chinese J Catal 20 (1999) 385-386
11	Appl Catal B 29 (2001) 285-298
JJ	MRS 4 (1999) 2787-2794
KK	MRS 4 (1999) 1157-1164
LL	Studies in Sur Sci and Catal (2000) 1535-1540
MM	Catal Today 42(1998) 159-166
NN	Appl Catal B 3 (1994) 295-318
00	Appl Catal B 18 (1998) 115-121
PP	Macro Meso Material 30 (1999) 3-41
QQ	Catal Lett 41 (1996) 45-46
RR	Appl Catal B 31 (2001) 251-261
SS	Appl Catal B: (1994) L 1
Π	Catal Today 26 (1995) 13-21
UU	Catal Today 22 (1994) 73
WW	Appl Catal B 29 (2001) 47-60
XX	SAE 2001-01-3513
-	